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(1)

DIGGING UP THE FACTS: INSPECTING THE
BIG DIG AND THE PERFORMANCE OF FED-
ERAL AND STATE GOVERNMENT IN PROVID-
ING OVERSIGHT OF FEDERAL FUNDS

FRIDAY, APRIL 22, 2005

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT REFORM,

Washington, DC.
The committee met, pursuant to notice, at 2 p.m., in the En Banc

Courtroom, Moakley Courthouse, Boston, MA, Hon. Tom Davis
(chairman of the committee) presiding.

Present: Representatives Davis of Virginia, and Lynch.
Also present: Representative Capuano.
Staff present: Teresa Austin, chief clerk; Sarah D’Orsie, deputy

clerk; Brian Stout, professional staff member; John Hunter, coun-
sel; Drew Crockett, deputy director of communications; and Krista
Boyd, minority counsel.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Good afternoon. A quorum being present,
the committee will come to order. We are conducting this field
hearing in Boston today to assess the status of the Central Tunnel/
Artery Project, or the Big Dig, one of the largest and most expen-
sive Federal highway projects in the history of the United States.

My colleague and good friend and member of this committee,
Congressman Stephen Lynch, requested that this congressional
committee convene a hearing here in Boston to witness firsthand
the steps being taken to address the outstanding concerns and
issues in terms of safety and cost associated with the Big Dig.

As this project nears completion, it is vital that we assess the les-
sons learned here in Boston and determine how to prevent such
cost growth and improve oversight and coordination in the future.
These are significant areas of concern to the Committee on Govern-
ment Reform, and indeed to the entire Nation, as we seek solutions
to increased urban congestion throughout the country.

It is imperative for the Federal Government, which often pays 80
percent of the major highway projects, to play a role to ensure that
taxpayer dollars, whether Federal or State, are being used effec-
tively. In addition, the increase in the number of projects and the
rapidly growing competition for both Federal and State funding de-
mand that major transportation and infrastructure projects be
managed efficiently and cost effectively, so we are able to fund the
many needs we have across the Nation.

It is for these important reasons that we decided to come to Bos-
ton today and hold this important hearing. I am pleased that Con-
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gressman Lynch is with us this morning, and I also want to wel-
come Congressman Capuano to this field hearing as well. And I
would ask unanimous consent that he be allowed to sit here as a
member of the committee and ask questions. And, Mike, we appre-
ciate you being here as well.

I don’t need to remind anyone here about the traffic and related
highway safety problems of the Central Artery in the 1980’s that
led to the planning for this massive project. Preliminary designs
began in the 1980’s, and construction commenced in 1991.

As with all State highway projects such as this, the Federal
Highway Administration is responsible for protecting the Federal
funding of this project. As part of the Metropolitan Highway Sys-
tem, the Massachusetts Turnpike Authority has given construction
and operational authority for this project.

The figures associated with the Big Dig are staggering. The na-
ture and scope of the project, the time involved in planning and
construction, and the cost overruns and safety concerns are unpar-
alleled. What began in 1980 as a $2 billion project grew to $8 bil-
lion in 1995, and the Authority currently estimates the project cost
to be $14.625 billion.

Upon completion, scheduled for later this year, the project will
encompass 7.8 miles of highway, with 161 lane miles of pavement,
3 interstate tunnels, over 200 bridge structures, and 6 major inter-
changes. So it comes close to $2 billion a mile.

While it is hard to imagine another federally funded project—
public works project of this magnitude, there is a growing need na-
tionwide to plan, build, and support major highway and infrastruc-
ture improvements. It is, therefore, vital for us to learn what hap-
pened here in Boston and implement procedures that will ensure
against cost overruns of highway projects and assure the safety
and confidence of the traveling public that utilizes those highways.

Certain steps have already been undertaken as a result of the
problems associated with the Big Dig. Congress now requires ini-
tial financial plans and annual updates to be submitted and ap-
proved by the U.S. Department of Transportation for all projects
costing over $1 billion.

These financial plans for the mega projects must identify project
costs and financial resources to implement and complete the
planned project. Annual updates must report actual cost and reve-
nue performance in comparison to original estimates and revision
of estimates.

This process has been implemented. The Woodrow Wilson Bridge
Project, which is the Potomac River crossing northern Virginia,
which I represent, and Maryland. Right now that is on schedule
and under budget.

I hope that this hearing will give us an accurate picture of the
current status of the Big Dig and the efforts to remedy the tunnel
leaks, which has been learned from this mega highway—what else
has been learned, and implementation of safeguards for other fed-
erally funded projects.

Now, we have assembled an impressive group of witnesses today.
We will hear from the Federal Highway Administration, the U.S.
Department of Transportation Inspector General, the Common-
wealth of Massachusetts, the attorney general of the Common-
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wealth of Massachusetts, the Massachusetts Turnpike Authority,
the overall management consultant for the project hired by the
Massachusetts Highway Department, and a safety engineer who
evaluated the project.

I want to thank our witnesses for appearing before the commit-
tee, and I look forward to their testimony.

I now yield to Mr. Lynch.
[The prepared statement of Chairman Tom Davis follows:]
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Mr. LYNCH. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. First, I would like to
begin by thanking you for convening this hearing, and also it was
necessary for me to get the agreement of our ranking member,
Henry Waxman, and I appreciate you coming here to Boston.

This committee is the Committee on Government Reform. And as
the name suggests, it is the continuing problems that we have en-
countered on the Central Artery/Tunnel Project that brings us here
today. Very simply, this committee is charged with asking the
tough questions, and using the powers that are afforded to this
committee, and to the Congress, to determine where the shared re-
sponsibilities lie in completing and maintaining this project in a
manner that meets the high standards that taxpayers and toll pay-
ers expect.

In a national regulatory context, we also seek to ensure that the
systemic problems that resulted in cost overruns are not allowed to
happen again. There is frequent criticism of partisan bickering in
Congress that sometimes hampers our work. And, in fairness, I
must confess that sometimes that criticism is warranted and well
deserved.

However, I must say that my experience on this committee,
under the leadership of Chairman Tom Davis, the gentleman from
Virginia, has been a shining exception to that rule. In my brief ten-
ure on the committee, we have conducted investigations of the Bos-
ton Office of the FBI and their involvement with organized crime,
we continue to investigate the U.N.’s complicity in the Iraqi Oil for
Food scandal, we are investigating contract irregularities with Hal-
liburton in the Middle East, and most recently steroid abuse in
Major League Baseball and professional sports.

And through it all, I have seen Chairman Davis has personally
gone to great lengths to maintain a level of fairness and to encour-
age the work of all members together, regardless of their political
affiliation. So, again, my thanks.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you. If you want to take more than
your 5 minutes, you are doing real well. [Laughter.]

Mr. LYNCH. Well, he wrote this, so—[laughter]—not at all. Turn-
ing to the difficulties of the Central Artery Project, as somebody
who literally grew up in the construction industry, I have taken a
natural interest in this project. Let me state at the outset that I
do not for a moment discount the colossal scale of this undertaking,
which is, again, as the chairman has said, the largest and most
complex construction project in the history of the United States.

And also, I fully and personally appreciate the pride and skill of
the men and women of the building trades who built it. I have
enormous pride in them, and I am not questioning their work.

And I am mindful, most of all, of the memories of workers who
actually gave their lives on this project, men like John Hegarty, an
old friend from Savin Hill, in the neighborhood, in the Savin Hill
section of Dorchester, a proud member of Pile Drivers Local 56,
who left a wife and young children; men like Fook Choi Kan, who
was a union carpenter from Springfield, who also died on this
project; and Lonnie Avant, a member of Local 4 Operating Engi-
neers from Roxbury, who on all accounts was considered a true
gentleman and someone who took great pride in his work.
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And men like my young friend, Frank Shea, of south Boston, who
was an accomplished boxer and a Golden Glove champ, who lived
by the simple truth that there was honor in hard work. Those gen-
tlemen were reflections of what was and is best about America.

There were common threads that ran through each of their lives.
They, like their parents, Irish, Asian, African-American, by their
labor they found dignity in their work, and that has been an endur-
ing truth in this country.

It is also directly related to America’s sense of shared sacrifice
and our willingness, as citizens, to support projects like this, that
probably benefit future generations more than they benefit us
today, not simply to reduce the length of a traffic jam or cut our
morning commute time, but because we hope that our work can be-
come our legacy, to improve the lives of future generations. And as
noble as that may sound, it takes more than good intentions to
build that legacy, as this project has shown.

I think the best example of how quickly good intentions can suc-
cumb to failure is the story of greed following national need during
World War II. The people of this Nation were bound to a unified
cause because of the attacks on Pearl Harbor, and they rallied to
superhuman acts during World War II.

And yet as the country grappled with logistics of the war effort,
terrible examples of waste and mismanagement and abuse in our
defense contractor practices threatened that effort until Senator
Harry Truman and the members of the Truman Commission inves-
tigated the causes of those deficiencies and that waste and got the
war production effort back on track.

The risk then was not just in wasted tax dollars but in lost lives,
shoddy materials, and missed deadlines in delivery. Then, Senator
Truman got in his car and went around the country visiting instal-
lations and talking with the people working for defense contractors.
He knew that the key to reform—true reform—would be found
where the work was actually occurring.

And so now we are here today in the spirit of that earlier effort,
and it is my hope, with at least a small fraction of the clarity and
the sense of mission that Senator Harry Truman brought to his
work.

Why is this as important as the earlier investigations? Our
transportation system is the key to our economic stability, and we
have just approved in the House a brand-new $285 billion trans-
portation bill. This Nation will continue to undertake huge public
works projects, but, whether large or small, the taxpayer deserves
value for each dollar spent.

This project was and is a courageous endeavor of breathtaking
ambition—make no question about it—an effort that was equal to
the people who have built it. And we are trying to—what we are
trying to do here is preserve the legacy of this monumental effort
and bring it back into respectability, and that can only happen
when all the parties are held accountable and share in that respon-
sibility.

I have followed the chronology of this project from its inception
to today, and I must say through all of its twists and turns and
conflicts and mediations I have yet to find a single example when
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the interests of the taxpayers and of ordinary citizens have pre-
vailed. Well, we are hoping in this hearing that will change.

If we reexamine how we got to this place, and take note, as the
chairman has said, of lessons learned from our experience, if we
work together thoughtfully and in good faith to find a way to en-
sure that the public is a partner in this effort, we can restore dig-
nity to this project, and we can protect the people’s interests from
this day forward.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I yield back.
[The prepared statement of Hon. Stephen F. Lynch follows:]
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Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you very much.
Mr. Capuano.
Mr. CAPUANO. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. First of all, thank you

for allowing me to sit with you and to share some time with you.
Welcome to Boston. Actually, welcome back to Boston.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you.
Mr. CAPUANO. And, again, I would echo everything Mr. Lynch

said about your tenure, both in this chairmanship and as a human
being. I find you to be one of the most fair and honorable people
in Congress, and I am pleased and honored to sit here for a few
minutes with you.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you.
Mr. CAPUANO. As far as today’s hearings go, there are only a cou-

ple of things that I am deeply interested in. I am the least inter-
ested person here in the headlines that are going to be in tomor-
row’s papers or in tonight’s news, because I think that’s part of the
problem with this particular project is too many people interested
in too many headlines and not enough people interested in the
facts and the realities of the project.

First of all, as everything I understand, and I am going to ask
every single witness today to answer the question, as I understand
it today, the project is safe. And everything I have read, everything
I have heard from everybody involved has indicated that it is safe,
but I want to hear it from every person who testifies here today.

No. 2, the project is working. I took it to get here today. My ex-
pectation is that many of you took it to get here today and will
take it as you leave. And if you didn’t take it, I would suggest that
you do. The project, though not complete, is working.

It is doing what it was promised to do, which is to ease traffic
flow, improve our environment, and improve the quality of life in
greater Boston, and hopefully to set an example of the kinds of con-
struction projects that are wanted across this country to improve
the quality of life in other especially older cities.

As far as what we learned from this project, my hope is that we
learn a couple of things. No. 1 is that we know that this project
will continue to be safe. That is the top priority, that it continues
to be safe tomorrow, next week, next month, and in the next gen-
eration.

I would hope that over time, maybe not today but over time we
learn on issues of accountability—who is responsible for what, how
much, and hopefully none of that will go to the taxpayers. But I
think that will be part—it will clearly be part of the discussion
today, and it will take a while to work all those things out.

I also want to hear some of the lessons that we have learned
from this project, both on a State level and on a Federal level. I
have been involved in major construction projects in the past, and
every time you do one you learn something.

This project, as you have heard, is the biggest project in the his-
tory of the country. There are lots of lessons that have been
learned, and hopefully they will allow us to improve our process in
the future, again, both on a State and on a Federal level.

And, finally, I want to make sure that the costs relative to this
project don’t have a negative impact on, No. 1, taxpayers; and, No.
2, on future projects.
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I was a former mayor of a city close to Boston, Summerville, and
during that time when I was mayor I personally experienced
projects in Summerville that were stopped or delayed because the
financing on this project sucked up every single dollar the State
had.

That was unacceptable, and the solution was a few years ago the
Congress passed basically a rule or a regulation, a law, that said
the State must have minimum spending on projects in Massachu-
setts other than the Big Dig. To my knowledge, that is still work-
ing. That is still in place and still being adhered to.

I want to make sure that the future costs of this project don’t
lead to the same results, both on maintenance and in completion.
Everything I have heard thus far on completion I think we are in
good shape. Obviously, maybe we will hear different today, but that
also goes for maintenance. It doesn’t do us any good if the mainte-
nance costs of this project are 100-fold what we expect, so that they
suck up future dollars.

I know that the House just passed a bill, as Mr. Lynch men-
tioned, that for Massachusetts will mean $5.1 billion. It means
7,500 new jobs—40,000 jobs but 7,500 new jobs per year every year
for the next 5 years.

Now, I happen to think that is the way government should work,
both for the jobs and economic aspects of it, even for the transpor-
tation aspect of it. And I don’t want those jobs jeopardized by the
concerns of this project.

Mr. Chairman, thank you for the opportunity to be with you
today. Thank you for the opportunity to sit here with you. And,
again, I hope you enjoy your brief time here in Boston.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Well, thank you very much.
Members will have 7 days to submit opening statements for the

record, and we are going to recognize our first panel. We have Mr.
D.J. Gribbin, who is the Chief Counsel for the Federal Highway
Administration. Mr. Gribbin is accompanied by Mr. Stanley Gee,
the Administrator of the Massachusetts Division of the Federal
Highway Administration.

Joining Mr. Gribbin and Mr. Gee is the Inspector General of the
Department of Transportation, the Honorable Kenneth Mead,
whose office plays a vital role in promoting the effectiveness of and
preventing waste, fraud, and abuse in departmental programs and
initiatives.

And we are also pleased to have the Honorable Tom Reilly, the
attorney general for the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, who has
been tasked with leading the current cost recovery efforts. We ap-
preciate your being here, too, Mr. Attorney General.

It is the policy of this committee we swear everyone before you
testify. So if you could just rise with me and raise your right
hands.

[Witnesses sworn.]
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you.
Your entire statements are in the record.
Mr. Gribbin, we will start with you and move straight on down.

And thank you, once again, for being with us up here.
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STATEMENTS OF D.J. GRIBBIN, CHIEF COUNSEL, FEDERAL
HIGHWAY ADMINISTRATION, ACCOMPANIED BY STANLEY
GEE, ADMINISTRATOR, MASSACHUSETTS DIVISION, FED-
ERAL HIGHWAY ADMINISTRATION; KENNETH MEAD, INSPEC-
TOR GENERAL, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION;
AND TOM REILLY, ATTORNEY GENERAL, COMMONWEALTH
OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATEMENT OF D.J. GRIBBIN

Mr. GRIBBIN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Chairman, mem-
bers of the committee, thank you again for the opportunity to tes-
tify today on issues concerning the Boston Central Artery/Tunnel
Project.

I have asked, as you mentioned, Mr. Chairman, Stan Gee, who
is Federal Highways’ Massachusetts Division Administrator, to join
me today. Stan is our point person on this project, and he has been
overseeing it since the year 2000.

The Central Artery/Tunnel Project is 96 percent complete, and
substantial completion is scheduled by October of this year. This
$14.6 billion project has been the largest, most expensive, and most
complex highway project in U.S. history. This ambitious project will
provide countless benefits to the city of Boston in the way of en-
hancing safety, easing traffic congestion, providing acres of open
park land to city residents, and reconnecting communities severed
by the old elevated highway.

In my time here today, I will touch on three issues—the safety
of the tunnel, the recent problems with leaks, and the cost of the
project. First, I wish to take this opportunity to restate Federal
Highways’ conclusion that the Central Artery, including the tun-
nels that are part of this project, is safe for public travel. We will
not compromise on safety. Safety is the Department of Transpor-
tation’s top priority, and I agree with Mr. Capuano that we need
to ensure that this project will continue to be safe into the future.

Second, one of the most recent areas of concern with the project
involves water intruding into the tunnels. This water is causing
two types of leaks. The most serious of these leaks occurred on Sep-
tember 15, 2004, when a slurry wall panel was breached, allowing
a substantial amount of water to enter into the northbound tunnel
of I–93 for a few hours.

In response to this incident, Federal Highway Administrator
Mary Peters requested an independent Federal highway engineer-
ing assessment of all tunnel leaks. The Federal Highways’ tunnel
leak assessment team issued its interim report on March 23rd of
this year.

The team reports that the project is appropriately addressing the
tunnel leaks. The September 15 breach appears to be isolated to a
discrete section of the tunnel and is primarily the result of poor
quality control during construction. It is not a result of a defective
design.

The contractor responsible for this section of the tunnel has suc-
cessfully installed an interim repair, has submitted a design for a
permanent fix, and has agreed that repairs will be made at their
expense, not at the public’s.
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The MTA is reviewing plans for the permanent repair, and Fed-
eral Highways will approve plans for the repair once we are satis-
fied that it provides for a structure that is sound, durable, water-
tight, and relatively maintenance free. We will also assess the de-
gree to which the repair disrupts nearby structures and the travel-
ing public.

As a result of the September 15 breach, emphasis has been
placed on the second kind of leak in the tunnels. Federal Highways’
leak report noted that the project continues to manage the tunnel
leak sealing efforts in a very methodical way. As of April 13 of this
year, almost 1,100 leak sealings have been performed, and it is es-
timated that the project is on track to have all of the low-level
leaks sealed by October.

Once again, the cost of this work is the responsibility of the
mainline tunnel contractors, not the taxpayers. Federal Highways
will continue to monitor these efforts, and will issue a report upon
completion of all repairs.

Finally, perhaps the most publicly criticized aspect of the Central
Artery/Tunnel Project has been its dramatic cost escalation. Fed-
eral Highways has worked closely with Inspector General Mead
and his office to ensure Federal Highways’ oversight practices and
procedures to avoid similar occurrences. Together we have been
able to create a framework for major project oversight that will
serve us well for the remainder of this project and for future major
projects.

Mr. Chairman, members of the committee, thank you for this op-
portunity to testify. I will be pleased to answer any questions you
may have at the appropriate time.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Gribbin follows:]
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Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you very much.
Mr. Mead.

STATEMENT OF KENNETH MEAD

Mr. MEAD. Yes. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thanks for holding
this hearing today, and Congressmen Lynch and Capuano. This is
the most expensive public highway project in U.S. history, actually.
But it is extremely important to the Commonwealth, to the entire
northeast, indeed to U.S. interstate commerce.

I should say, as the chairman alluded to in his opening remarks,
that the lessons learned on this project have just had a huge im-
pact on the oversight approach of the Federal Government, as well
as on the highway bill that is now pending before the Congress.
And the lessons learned have already had a very positive impact
on major construction and other multi-million dollar projects.

The chairman mentioned the Wilson Bridge, which crosses the
Potomac—Virginia, Maryland, and D.C. That project is actually—
I think it is a little bit under budget, it is certainly on target, and
that project—we are really all I think very proud of the progress
that project is making.

It has also been applied to—the lessons learned on the Central
Artery have also been applied to other projects like the Sound
Transit/Light Rail Project in Washington State. It is the largest
transit project in the country at this time. Trentabono in Puerto
Rico, and it will have impact on the other major projects, such as
the Bay Bridge Project in California, which is experiencing some
problems.

And I dare say it will probably have an impact on the Chicago
O’Hare Airport runway expansion program. So I think this one will
go down in history.

Our office has been reviewing this project since about 1991, well
before my time. And we are now finding ourselves reviewing the
2004 finance plan. We can’t approve this plan, though, until,
among other things, they have in place a credible time table to fix
the leaks, know approximately how much they will cost to fix, and
who will pay.

The project’s troubled history of delays and cost increases is well
known. The Central Artery was to be finished initially in December
1998; the new completion date is September/October 2005. It is al-
most 7 years later. Their price tag moved from $2.6 billion in the
beginning to today’s $14.6 billion, and that estimate of $14.6 has
been holding now for 2 or 3 years. And I certainly hope it doesn’t
change.

Congress has, with respect to the Central Artery Project, taken
the unprecedented step of actually capping the amount of money
that the Federal Government would have going to it, and it is for
the reasons that Congressman Capuano alluded to.

Four months ago, our testimony to a State legislative committee
here in Boston detailed two kinds of leaks on the I–93 tunnels. The
taxpayers ought not to have to pay for the repairs to these leaks,
regardless of whether the project manages to come in at $14.6 bil-
lion on the button or even under $14.6 billion. The taxpayers
should not have to pick up the tab here.
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Mr. Gribbin outlined the two types of leaks. One is the slurry
wall leak. This became a public concern last September 15 when
a panel breached, and I think you had 300 gallons per minute com-
ing out of that, so that was a pretty big leak. That breach was, as
he pointed out, caused by a series of construction errors.

Actually, those construction errors were documented when the
wall was built, but they were not corrected. Since then, inspections
have found a total of 102 defective or leaking slurry wall tunnels.
The numbers change daily, but this is—so this is as of about April
1.

There is about 1,900 wall panels, to give you a frame of ref-
erence, so 102 of them they found a problem with. Here is the
breakdown on the types of problems. Two of them need major re-
pairs, 33 of them need what I would call moderate repairs, and 67
of them need only patching; 10 of them have been repaired, but the
Authority has not approved the repair yet.

So we have 400 of about 1,900 odd wall panels that still need to
be inspected. That is about 20 percent. So I would like to see that
get done.

Now, the Massachusetts Turnpike Authority is going to have to
decide soon on how to repair the wall panels with the worst defects.
There are three suggested methods. One is to install a steel plate
over the hole, a second does the same thing, but adds a reinforced
concrete, and a third requires rebuilding the wall.

The Authority faces the challenge of selecting one without being
perceived by the public as picking just the most expedient method.
I think that is very important, given this entire affair. A perma-
nent, lasting fix to the walls ought to be the paramount concern,
and obtaining the most cost-effective one at this point I think is
probably secondary.

The second type of leak is found up at the roof wall joints, and
these are worrisome because they have long-term maintenance im-
plications. The number changes constantly as the leaks—as you
seal one leak with the grout—I guess they are called grout injec-
tions, you seal one and the water goes down all over and you get
two more leaks. And that is why you see these numbers keep fluc-
tuating so dramatically.

Last summer, for example, there were more than 700 roof wall
joint leaks. As of April 1, there were 662. More than 4,500 of the
9,000 odd roof wall joints still have to be reinspected for leaks. All
of the roof wall joints have been inspected once, so now they are
on the second round of inspections, and we still have 4,500 to check
out.

We don’t know yet the full cost of repairing all of the leaks. A
consultant assessment of the cost is due next month, I think in the
middle of the month. And, again, the Authority has said that its
contractor is going to pay to fix the leaks. We are not entirely con-
fident of this.

According to the Authority, contractors have already been paid
$7 million for leak repairs, and they estimate they will have to be
paid—have to pay another $10 million. We are concerned that the
costs and payments related to leak and water problems may signifi-
cantly exceed the $17 million.
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And these payments may actually go back further in time than
we thought. Certainly, they go back through all of 2004. They may
go back for several years prior to that as well. Taxpayers may have
already paid for some of them. Now these costs, if already paid,
will have to be recovered.

I would like to turn now to the cost recovery program. The cost
recovery program that we now have in place for the Artery will be
helpful in returning some leak-related payments to the project.
Maybe all of them. The previous efforts on cost recovery here,
though, have been anemic.

In December, we recommended that the State form a bipartisan
commission that was independent of the Authority to investigate
the leaks and that this Commission would work with the attorney
general. Well, the Commission wasn’t recreated, but the Authority
recently transferred its cost recovery program to the attorney gen-
eral’s office.

We see this as an improvement, as a positive step, because it
served to remove the program from their project management
structure, where it was hampered by all kinds of role conflicts, es-
pecially with Bechtel/Parsons Brinckerhoff, who was a partner of
the Artery, who is responsible for quality assurance and portions
of the project design, and who has been paid nearly $1.9 billion for
its work.

So we know the attorney general, Mr. Reilly. We have talked sev-
eral times on the phone. I know he has his work cut out for him,
and we wish him the very best. But he has to not only look at the
cost recovery issue for the leaks; he has to look for cost recovery
for the entire project, for things that have nothing to do with the
leaks, but have to do with change orders that have already been
paid.

In fact, the cost of the leaks are only a modest portion of the cost
recovery effort. Let me give you a frame of reference. Over the life
of this project, there have been over $2 billion in contract change
orders. A significant portion of these are claims by contractors for
work they claim is beyond the scope of the original contract, or for
work that they did because they felt they encountered significant
problems that they had not expected.

As of February 28 of this year, there were over 3,600 unresolved
contractor’s claims for over $400 million. That is a large piece of
change.

We are currently reviewing the 2004 finance plan, as I said be-
fore. By law, we must determine whether that plan contains rea-
sonable estimates for cost schedules and funding sources, before
the Department decides whether to release I think it is about $81
million remaining in Federal funds.

And we won’t be in a position to do that until more information
is known about the extent of the leaks, which means all of the in-
spections have to be done, and a cost has to be attached to them.
And we would like a reasonable estimate as to what it is going to
take to dispose of them.

And I think I would just like to close by starting out where I
began, to say that there have been some important lessons learned
in this project. The last project finance plan we reviewed from the

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00028 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



25

Central Artery, it is—I tell people as I go around the country and
speak that it was probably among the best in the country.

I know the Wilson Bridge project used the improvements that
the Central Artery had made in its finance plan, and there has
been a lot of other lessons learned. And hopefully we can get this
project done, no more cost overruns, we can get the leaks resolved,
and move on.

And, again, thank you for holding the hearing, Mr. Chairman.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Mead follows:]
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Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you very much.
We will now hear from the Commonwealth’s attorney general.

Mr. Reilly, thank you for being with us.

STATEMENT OF TOM REILLY

Mr. REILLY. Mr. Chairman, thank you. And Congressman Lynch
and Congressman Capuano, thank you for being here as well.

Mr. Chairman, I also want to thank you for your courtesy in
scheduling my testimony this afternoon. I have submitted written
testimony, so I will not repeat that at this point. There are a couple
of points I do want to pick up on.

Ken Mead is right; we do have our work cut out for us in this
endeavor in taking over cost recovery. Let me tell you why we
agreed or actually volunteered for this task. This represents—and
the importance all of you have noted—it is a very important
project. It represents an enormous investment on the part of the
Federal and State governments and to transportation improve-
ments, not just for the city of Boston but also for this entire region.

But it is more than transportation. Any one of you that has been
over the Zakim-Bunker Hill Bridge realize it is a magnificent struc-
ture, a wonderful introduction into a great city. And it is my hope
that we will get to a point where we will all be proud of this project
and appreciate what has been done here.

But we are not there yet; there are serious problems. And getting
from the problems to the promise of a future of this project is why
we stepped in. There were suggestions at the time of a commission;
I did not agree with that approach. Cost recovery is going to go one
of two ways. It is either going to be a negotiated settlement, or it
is going to end up in litigation. Commissions don’t litigate; commis-
sions really don’t negotiate. So we decided that we would step in.

Also, Mr. Chairman, I take this responsibility, and to Congress-
men and the Federal Government, I take this responsibility very
seriously. We want to demonstrate to you that we can do the job
that you expect of us, and we will try and are committed to doing
that.

Let me just bring you up to date very quickly as to where we are.
Currently, we are reviewing 134 issues for cost recovery. The major
ones—and Ken Mead spoke on the leak issues in the I–93, and
clearly there has been poor construction. But our focus is not just
on the construction companies; our focus is on Bechtel. They were
hired to do a particular job, in terms of oversight, in terms of de-
sign. And our focus is on them.

There is a lot of focus and a lot of attention paid to the slurry
walls. We are equally concerned with the wall and the roof joint
with the continuing leaks. We are not confident with the approach
that has been taken in terms of grouting, filling those leaks and
those holes with—by grouting. You cannot—in our estimation, you
cannot grout your way out of this problem.

We are concerned that this may not be solvable in the—for a per-
manent solution, and we may have on our hands a very long-range
maintenance problem for the project. And certainly we will have to
take some time to find out, if that is true, what is the cost and who
is going to pay.
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Again, we believe that the responsibility, the ultimate respon-
sibility, is not with the taxpayer—the ultimate—the Federal Gov-
ernment or the State government. The ultimate responsibility lies
Bechtel. Waterproofing is a major issue throughout the project.

Again, Bechtel was responsible for the concept for the entire
project, and concerns have been raised about the choice of mate-
rials and design of certain of the waterproofing details. Again, we
see that as the responsibility of Bechtel.

There is a serious matter involving the so-called Honeywell con-
tract, which is a communications system throughout the project for
alert to any problems in the systems. Again, Bechtel has a role in
this.

There are roadway problems with pavement, causing not only re-
grinding but also repavement. That has been so-called—people
went through it in the early stages of so-called rollercoaster effect.
Again, we see that as the responsibility ultimately of Bechtel.

Last, there are problems with the water treatment system on
Spectacle Island for the treatment of environmental waste. It is not
functioning properly. Again, we see ultimately the responsibility—
there is a lot of focus and a lot of fingerpointing back and forth,
but ultimately we see the responsibility being with Bechtel.

In the end, our goal is to recover as much money as we can for
taxpayers, both Federal and State, and to make sure that when all
is said and done we got what we paid for.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you for being here in Bos-
ton.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Reilly follows:]
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Chairman TOM DAVIS. Well, thank all of you for being here, and
for the testimony, some of which is in the record and wasn’t dis-
cussed here.

Mr. Mead, let me start with you. You said we have 3,600 claims
for change orders that came through, basically?

Mr. MEAD. Yes, sir.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Now, when these change orders came

through, were they agreed to by whoever was administering the
project, or did they just decide to make the change and resolve
later who was going to pay for it and how it was going to—and who
was to blame?

Mr. MEAD. All of the above. One of the problems with this project
is that things that are now in dispute as to whether or not the
Commonwealth ought to get money back that they already paid
many years ago. I think there was a haste to pay some of these
things, and now we still have a very large number outstanding.

I would just—some of these things just went unattended for
many, many years, and now Attorney General Reilly has a task of
trying to recover the cost of these things.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. He has to pick up the pieces.
Mr. MEAD. Yes, sir.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Well, you—Mr. Mead, you said it was

about $400 million in these change orders roughly.
Mr. MEAD. There’s $400 million, sir, just pending now that still

have to be resolved.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Payment doesn’t resolve it? The fact that

these people were paid doesn’t resolve it, in other words. There
is——

Mr. MEAD. Well, it——
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Was it paid under protest, or how did that

work?
Mr. MEAD. Well, they would just pay it, and there would be no

protest. And now people are raising a protest, and saying, ‘‘We
never should have paid this. This was somebody else’s fault.’’

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Can you elaborate on that, Mr.——
Mr. REILLY. Yes, this is a big——
Chairman TOM DAVIS. I have never heard of that before.
Mr. REILLY. Well, there is a lot of things we haven’t heard of be-

fore, and there is a lot of lessons to be learned.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. I was a government contracts attorney for

20 years. I was a general counsel for a $1 billion company, and we
worked with the government a lot. And it was resolved or you
didn’t get paid. That is the way it used to work with us. Sometimes
you would do the work, but they would hold the money until—you
are telling me they paid this up front and then are trying to resolve
it later?

Mr. REILLY. One of the big——
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Either one of you.
Mr. REILLY. One of the major problems here is that there was no

cost recovery for a period of 10 years. This should have been done
in a timely fashion.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. I understand.
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Mr. REILLY. An ongoing fashion. Deal with the problem when it
comes up, and decide who is going to be paid and for what, and
some of the quality assurances. That wasn’t done and——

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Who would make the decision to pay?
Would it have been Federal Highways? Would it have been the
State? Was it a low-level person? I mean, obviously you are trying
to get the mission accomplished. You have the bulldozers out there,
or the drillers, or whatever.

They say they need to get paid, but who would make the decision
to pay versus saying, ‘‘Let us see if we should make this change?’’
I mean, at what level was that done? Was that done Federal or
State or—can you explain that to me?

Mr. MEAD. I would say that first inside the Artery there is a
great deal of closeness between the Artery and its project consult-
ant, Bechtel/Parsons Brinckerhoff. It was almost a partnership,
and I think there was some failures there.

At the Federal level, I have to candidly say that I think the Feds
dropped the ball as well. There was very little oversight. I think
the Feds were thinking that there was a great deal of oversight
going on inside the project, and the project was thinking everything
is going fine. But the Federal Government learned a lot of hard les-
sons from this, Mr. Davis.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. If the money is recovered at this point,
the money that is recovered, who does it go to? Does it go to Fed-
eral Highways? Does it go to the State? Can somebody——

Mr. REILLY. Most of it—at least 60 cents on the dollar—goes to
the Federal Government. It is Federal money.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. It will be shared basically in
proportion——

Mr. MEAD. It will be a shared project.
Mr. REILLY. In proportion with the investment that was made in

the project. Most of that money is Federal money, at least 60 cents
on the dollar, maybe a bit more.

Mr. MEAD. I think, though, that a lot of that money might find
its way back to the Commonwealth, because a lot of that money
came to the Commonwealth as part of its annual apportionment.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. OK. So it is Federal money. And depend-
ing how it was apportioned, it could be returned to the State.

Mr. MEAD. Yes.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Or to the Federal Government, or what-

ever. But there is a lot on the table.
Mr. MEAD. Yes, sir.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. General Reilly, do you have any idea how

much money is on the table at this point?
Mr. REILLY. At this point, there has been a lot of speculation, a

lot of numbers thrown out there. I am uncomfortable with doing
that. We have——

Chairman TOM DAVIS. You set an expectation level when you——
Mr. REILLY [continuing]. And we have given assurances, and we

will give assurances to you. This will be fact driven. We will make
decisions based upon facts. When we have numbers that we believe
we can prove in court, then we will inform—if you want to be noti-
fied, and the Congressman wants to be notified—and I know the
Federal authorities, they will be——
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Chairman TOM DAVIS. That is fine.
Mr. REILLY [continuing]. They will be notified when we have

hard numbers that we can back up.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. I guess the last question before my time

runs out—we may do a second round, because I think we all have
a lot of questions as we go through this. Is there a statute of limi-
tations problem with any of this, that money might have been paid
off in the past, it probably shouldn’t have been paid off, but the
statute has run on our ability to get it back?

Mr. REILLY. In some cases——
Chairman TOM DAVIS. That is a possibility.
Mr. REILLY [continuing]. There are problems. There are problems

with people being gone. It is with memories, it is with documents,
it is with statute of limitations.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. The usual.
Mr. REILLY. On the other end of it, we have just got to work our

way through those problems and get the best possible result that
we can. But if there is a lesson to be learned here, cost recovery
should have been taken on an on-time basis.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Right. And I think you have heard the
Woodrow Wilson Bridge project is going along, because of some of
the mistakes made here. We are not replicating those mistakes in
other parts of the country. I think from the committee’s perspec-
tive, we would be interested as you move through to see if there
are statute issues, things that might have fallen through because
of timeliness and stuff, not to basically point a finger at anybody,
but just to understand this. Historically, I think that is important
for us moving ahead.

But we appreciate your cooperation in this. I am going to recog-
nize Mr. Lynch.

Mr. MEAD. Mr. Chairman, if I might just, given your background,
I think you can relate to this point really quickly. You asked Attor-
ney General Reilly for, you know, does he have a sense of what the
magnitude of cost recovery would be, and he I think quite
properly——

Chairman TOM DAVIS. He said what I would have said.
Mr. MEAD. Yes. And when I was a lawyer would say, too. But

you should know that up until a couple years ago, this is a $14.6
billion project. The total amount of cost recovery up until 2 years
ago was roughly $30,000.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. There is a lot of money on the table. I got
you. Thank you very much.

Mr. MEAD. I hope so.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you very much.
Mr. Lynch.
Mr. LYNCH. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Gribbin, I just wanted to followup very quickly with you. You

answered rather forthrightly that you thought the tunnels were
safe. When we heard from the two construction experts—Mr.
Lemley and Mr. Tamaro—at the State hearing, they answered in
a similar fashion, but they conditioned that response by saying,
‘‘The tunnels were safe for now.’’

They also said that if proper maintenance were not—was not
conducted, and proper repairs not done in a timely fashion, then
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an unfair—or an unsafe condition could arise. Do you—is that con-
dition unstated in your answer?

Mr. GRIBBIN. I mean, our answer would be, first, as part of the
September 15 incident, we created a leak assessment task force
that did the interim report that I mentioned in my statement. At
that point in time, our experts went through the tunnel and found
it to be safe. We will continue, however, to monitor the leaks, to
monitor the injections on the leaks, and we will be doing a final
report once the project is complete.

And this project is still under construction from our standpoint.
And so we will—this project is perfectly safe to be used. I don’t
think we are going to project forward into the future too far until
we finish our report, which will be done after the project is com-
pleted.

Mr. LYNCH. Right. All I am saying is you have at least—right
now you have 102 flaws that they have noted, a couple of them se-
rious, 33 of them No. 2’s as they say, moderate deficiencies, and
then 67 light ones. I am just concerned about——

Mr. GRIBBIN. That is correct.
Mr. LYNCH. And not only that, but the patch that is on E–045,

which is the burst panel, that is a temporary patch, so—I am just
concerned about the completeness of your answer, whether or not
you think that, if we don’t have proper maintenance and repairs in
a timely fashion, that there could be an unsafe condition that
arises.

Mr. GRIBBIN. The assessment that we made was that the patch
was appropriate. It is a temporary patch, but clearly appropriate
to protect the integrity of that wall in the tunnel until a permanent
patch can be made. But why don’t I let Stan, since he is the engi-
neer here, add to that answer.

Mr. GEE. Sure. To answer your question, Congressman, there
have not been any discoveries of additional breaches of the type of
September 15. So we are confident now that the tunnel is safe. The
temporary repair is holding. We have recommended they go to a
permanent repair as soon as they can.

For the long-term safety, we are recommending they do a tun-
nel—they create a tunnel inspection program similar to what we do
for bridges. I think you are all familiar with the National Bridge
Inspection Program that requires a periodic review of bridges. Well,
we are going to institute—we have recommended, and will follow
through, that the tunnel create an inspection program for the long-
term safety.

Mr. LYNCH. Thank you. Inspector General Mead, I want to say
how pleased I am with the work you have done on this, and you
have been very helpful. I do note in your report this—for the
record, ‘‘The Impact of Water Leaks on the Central Artery/Tunnel
Project and Remaining Risks,’’ by the Honorable Kenneth Mead,
Friday, April 22.

You note that in your inspection you originally testified back in
December that it was an open question whether the September
breach was a one-of-a-kind event or a harbinger of systemic prob-
lems in the tunnel walls. And, however, based on the results of the
Authority’s inspections to date, it is clear in our opinion that the

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00055 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



52

wall panels leaks are systemic and are not centered in just one con-
tractor’s section, as was originally suggested.

That failure occurred 5 years ago. I am sorry. The wall was con-
structed 5 years ago. The defects sat latent 5 years ago. For that
5 years, Bechtel had a responsibility to inspect. For that whole 5
years, we never were informed of, even though they had the infor-
mation in their possession, they never informed the public, and we
never found out about this latent defect.

The fact that there is another 101 defective slurry wall panels
that have been found, and the problems are more systemic, as you
say, are there suggestions that you would make in terms of the ap-
proach that should be taken in order to guarantee the structural
integrity of the tunnel? Not only in the short term, but in the long
term as well?

Mr. MEAD. Well, I, too, have never had any question that the
tunnel is safe, and it has integrity, and it will be safe for travel,
and so forth. But I do think this leak situation, and the magnitude
of it, does need to be resolved. And, yes, I do have a suggestion.

The first thing we need to do is we need to complete all these
inspections, both the slurry walls and the roof wall joints. Then, we
need to have a credible process for deciding how to fix them. You
can already hear in this hearing that there is going to be some con-
troversy about the fix. I think it is incredibly important that the
public perceive that the fix is the right one.

Mr. LYNCH. I just want to—just for the sake of this—follow up
on this question, sometimes a picture is worth 1,000 words. Leah,
I don’t know how you turn the lights down a little bit. I just want
to show you, a lot of people have seen the flooding, the water on
the street. But I want to go to Slide B2 if we could. These are pic-
tures of the breach that occurred back on September 15.

I don’t know if you can see that very well. There is sort of a wa-
terfall thing going on there. That is the breach. And, notably, I
wanted to bring your attention to the clock on this. This is mid-
night, basically, on September 16. This wall breached between 2
and maybe 3 and 5 o’clock I think on the 15th.

So this has been running. This actually burst, let us see, a num-
ber of hours, at least—let us see, I am not sure of my timing on
the original breach. I think it was 8 or 9 hours previous to this pic-
ture being taken. So this is after the wall panel was taken apart.

Based on what you see here, and I can only imagine what the
actual force of this spout of water out onto the interstate highway,
by the way, which was being used by traffic traveling at, let us just
say, 55 miles an hour. Do you have any sense on the safety aspect
of this, you know, given the fact that now you have had an oppor-
tunity to see what the breach actually involved?

Mr. MEAD. Well, obviously, if you had a lot of breaches like that,
you would have a safety problem. I mean, you would need a boat.
But I think there is two walls—there is two panels where we have
defects that are classified as serious, and there is 30 others, 30 odd
others where I think the problem is moderate. It needs to be fixed,
so it doesn’t become serious.

Maybe you would like to speak to that.
Mr. GEE. Yes. You know, on that particular situation, the State

Police shut down the lane, so it wasn’t a danger in terms of traffic
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flooding. In that particular situation, they had it sectioned off.
There was one lane of traffic that was allowed to pass through.
When the water was emptied, it was restored to full operation.

The other leak that goes all the way through the wall is the size
of a tennis ball. OK? It is no longer leaking. It has actually been
temporarily fixed. All of the other leaks that we have do not—are
indentations or gouges in the wall, and this is a——

Mr. LYNCH. Are inclusions—is that included as well?
Mr. GEE. Excuse me?
Mr. LYNCH. Are there inclusions?
Mr. GEE. Yes.
Mr. LYNCH. Yes.
Mr. GEE. Yes. The foreign material, like dirt or whatever, that

was mixed in——
Mr. LYNCH. That fell into the slurry during construction.
Mr. GEE. Right. And when we poured the concrete, they filled up

the hole. My point is that those other ones don’t go all the way
through. This wall is almost 4 feet thick. So the other moderate de-
fects—also, most of the—if many of the—let us see, I think very
few of these defects, the numbers you—are wet, are actually leak-
ing. These are defects that have foreign material in there, but they
are not leaking water.

The last point I wanted to make is that these—the moderate
ones, as the Inspector General has mentioned, these are defects
that have inclusions that may be more than a foot deep. OK? But
the wall is almost 4 feet. That is why I can say that there is not
a structural integrity problem; it is a quality control issue as was
pointed out.

Mr. MEAD. Now, you know, we have 400 of these panels of
these—that still have to be inspected. And what is very troubling
about this whole matter is that they knew that there was a prob-
lem, and it wasn’t fixed. And that this happened so many years
ago, and now there is a second one. Plus, they found these prob-
lems with almost 100 panels.

I would hope that this teaches us a lesson that there is some-
thing broken in the quality assurance process. And I hope that the
remaining 400, when they get done with those inspections, they
don’t—that it doesn’t turn up other problems.

Mr. LYNCH. I am going to—I know I have taken more than my
time. My concern is this, Mr. Gee, and maybe you can address it
at a later time. These defects are latent, just like the—this was a
latent defect until it burst. These walls are 31⁄2 feet thick. We
shouldn’t have water spouting through a wall 31⁄2 feet thick. We
shouldn’t have a hole the size of a tennis ball through a wall 31⁄2
feet thick.

And in my estimation, we shouldn’t have traces of water filtering
through a concrete wall 31⁄2 feet thick. And the reason it was de-
signed to be 31⁄2 feet thick is we need that. We need that thickness
to retain the soil and the water pressure behind it.

And all I am saying is that these inclusions that are treated so
lightly by many are actually, over the long term, threatening the
structural integrity of those panels, not of the tunnel itself but of
those lateral panels that are holding back the soil.

OK. The last question I have—I know I am over——
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Chairman TOM DAVIS. Can I just follow on to that? I will give
you your last question. You said they knew about this. I mean, the
contractor knew about this. Did State or Federal inspectors know
about this, too?

Mr. MEAD. Well, it is not clear—it is——
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Or should they have known about it?
Mr. MEAD. Oh, yes, they should have known about it. We also

know, though, sir, that Bechtel/Parsons Brinckerhoff, whose job it
was to do quality assurance, knew about it. But they did not re-
quire its correction. And the paper trail that we traced down, it
ends at problem identification. And there is no followup docu-
mentation that we were able to find.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Why do you think that is?
Mr. MEAD. I don’t——
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Is there any possibility of collusion here,

that everybody is just so close here they are losing things?
Mr. MEAD. I think, at best, sloppiness.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. At best.
Mr. MEAD. At best, it is sloppiness.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. It could be collusion.
Mr. MEAD. Yes. And, you know, what the taxpayers want here

is they want a wall panel that meets the specifications that were
originally designed.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. So do the drivers.
Mr. MEAD. And that is going to be tough to do now. [Laughter.]
That is right. The drivers that have to go through there.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you.
Mr. MEAD. Yes, sir.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Mr. Lynch, one more question.
Mr. LYNCH. Just one last piece, and we are going to let Mr.

Capuano finally say something. The inspections that we are talking
about here—and I know we have a technical panel coming up be-
hind us—but is this with non-destructive testing? Are we doing
pulse echo? What are we—is this just visual detection of defects,
or are we actually scanning these walls with, you know, pulse echo
or ultrasound or—how are we detecting these panel defects so far?

Mr. GRIBBIN. I am going to volunteer Mr. Gee for that question.
[Laughter.]

Mr. LYNCH. OK. That is a question for—that is called a question
for the next panel.

Mr. GEE. We are doing—all of those are being done now. The ini-
tial screening is visual, OK, but when there is a question of a de-
fect, all of the methods that you describe, non-destructive as well
as actual picking away, is the inclusion of the material, the foreign
material is being done, too.

Mr. LYNCH. But it requires some other indication before you do
that, right?

Mr. GEE. Yes.
Mr. LYNCH. So you are not doing that with every single panel in

the tunnel. You are not going through with non-destructive testing,
making sure there is no flaw, no defect or deficiency within the
panel.
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Mr. GEE. Yes. At this point in time, the inclusions are obvious
in terms of visually seeing those. OK? And if there is a leak, obvi-
ously you will see a wet wall.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Mr. Capuano.
Mr. CAPUANO. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Gentlemen, I am going to ask you precisely the question I said

I was going to. I know that some of you addressed it, but I want
to make sure I hear it again. Based on what you know today, un-
derstanding that things can change tomorrow, but based on what
you know today, is the tunnel safe today?

And on the presumption, I would imagine, Mr. Gribbin, I had
heard before that you had suggested a national bridge-like inspec-
tion for this tunnel, which will be the first tunnel in America, if
I understand, that would be on such an inspection. And I hope and
presume and will do everything I can to assist you to make sure
that gets enacted.

But on the presumption that ordinary maintenance and every-
thing gets done, which to me that is a presumption, that every
bridge I drive over has ordinary maintenance—on the presumption
that ordinary maintenance gets done, is there any reason to sus-
pect today that these tunnels will be unsafe in the near or distant
future? Mr. Gribbin.

Mr. GRIBBIN. There is no reason to believe that these tunnels
will be unsafe in the near or distant future. We have had a good
number of experts looking at this, and all of them have concluded
the same thing.

Mr. CAPUANO. And that today they are safe to your knowledge?
Mr. GRIBBIN. That is correct.
Mr. CAPUANO. Mr. Gee.
Mr. GEE. Yes. I have nothing to add to that. That is true. That

is my opinion also.
Mr. CAPUANO. Mr. Mead.
Mr. MEAD. Yes. As I said before, the structural integrity of the

tunnel I have no problems with. I think it is safe for the traveling
public. I do think, though, that a very compelling case could be
made that when you consider all the circumstances here that every
one of these wall panels ought to be scanned.

It is going to cost some more money. But given what has hap-
pened here, given that picture, given the fact that this was a latent
defect that nobody saw until, I mean, once the thing was built, they
identified the problem, did nothing, I want to make sure that there
is no others out there like that.

So I would go to the expense of scanning every one of the panels
in this tunnel before we put this to bed.

Mr. CAPUANO. Mr. Attorney General.
Mr. REILLY. Congressman, my understanding is that the tunnel

is safe. But there is a bottom line here, and the bottom line is that
there is too much water coming into this tunnel, far more water
than anyone anticipated. We also know that in the winter months
there is more leakage than at other times of the year. And, you
know, the last time I checked, winter comes every year here, and
it comes harsher in some years than others.

Now, with that water in the tunnel, at places it shouldn’t be and
in amounts it shouldn’t be, we have—there is a maintenance prob-
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lem, and in terms of driving conditions, yes, it is not a good situa-
tion until we get to the bottom of this, find out what is causing the
leakage, what is causing the water, and correct it.

So is it safe? Yes. But let us get to the bottom of it.
Mr. CAPUANO. But to your knowledge at the moment, the tunnel

is safe, and there is no reason to suspect——
Mr. REILLY. Oh, yes.
Mr. CAPUANO [continuing]. That it won’t be safe for the near fu-

ture.
Mr. REILLY. What you have heard—and, again, I am not an engi-

neer, but all of the information I have had, it is structurally sound,
it is safe, but there is too much water coming into that tunnel.

Mr. CAPUANO. Thank you. Mr. Inspector General, first of all, I
want to thank you for coming today. I also want to thank you for
the assistance you have given both in this project and other
projects with my office and me personally. And for those of you who
don’t know, the Inspector General is a son of Massachusetts. He is
a proud product of us, and I am very pleased that he is back home
today for a little while.

Mr. Inspector General, in your written report, and I think you
also said in your comments, you had suggested an independent
commission for this, and I had agreed with you. And I just want
to know, in your perfect world, if you were the emperor of the uni-
verse tomorrow, right this minute, would you still stand by an
independent commission?

Mr. MEAD. I am very encouraged by the fact that Attorney Gen-
eral Reilly has stepped up the Commonwealth to a place to control.
I ought to say, to begin with, why—we came up with this idea of
the independent commission. Why did we come up with it? Well,
I am not a real good student maybe of Massachusetts politics.

But I did—I could see that the Massachusetts Turnpike Author-
ity, which is—has this huge project and isn’t part of your State De-
partment of Transportation. First of all, that was kind of unusual.
And the Massachusetts Turnpike Authority had a cost recovery ef-
fort set up inside itself, and I thought that was kind of strange be-
cause the Massachusetts Turnpike Authority itself may have been
some—may bear some of the responsibility for the problems here.

In addition, their consultant, their partner, was the one that the
cost recovery effort, or a large part of it, was directed against. We
came up with the idea of the commission, sir, because it seemed
to us that it needed to be defanged of politics. And it was our idea
that, if you had a commission that was bipartisan, they could work
with the attorney general, who is endowed with these enforcement
powers, and proceed.

The decision was made that the attorney general, who has the
legal authority, who has the skill set in his office—and we wish
him well. I support the effort. We will continue to coordinate. And
we were just trying to break a log jam by pushing the independent
commission.

That is a long-winded way of saying I am not wedded to the idea
of an independent commission.

Mr. CAPUANO. Mr. Inspector General, I am a student of Massa-
chusetts politics. [Laughter.]
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And I supported, and I still support, the concept of an independ-
ent commission. But I want to make it clear, it is not because of
a lack of confidence in the attorney general or his office. I think
they do a great job of everything that I am aware that they do. I
think they will do a good job on this.

My concern is the future. Everybody in this room knows the at-
torney general is more than likely to run for Governor, and I wish
him well. And everybody in this room knows that I thought about
running for Governor and decided that Washington needs me more.
[Laughter.]

So I don’t—I am not trying to hide anything here, and I am not
trying to play footsies about it. My concern is in a couple of
months, or a year, or 2 years, whenever the attorney general’s of-
fice comes up with whatever findings they have on any of these
issues, it is going to be the middle of a gubernatorial campaign.

At this very moment, I myself am personally aware of only—I
haven’t done a whole full-blown research—two news articles al-
ready where the Governor himself or his people have already at-
tacked the attorney general and his process when the attorney gen-
eral hasn’t done anything yet except begin the process. He has al-
ready been attacked on political—my opinion, politically motivated
purposes.

And my concern is exactly what you repeat throughout your en-
tire testimony, your written testimony, is the main aspect here is
to restore public confidence. And as a student of Massachusetts,
and probably international politics, when politics is involved—and
I am a politician, there is a place and time for it—public confidence
goes out the door.

And when the time comes, if the attorney general does every-
thing perfectly correctly, and comes up with the perfect answer, no
matter what he comes up with, it is going to be subject to political
second-guessing and headline-grabbing. So, for me, I still support
the independent commission, because I want politics out of this
once and for all.

Mr. MEAD. Yes. I did think also—and I didn’t say this in my re-
sponse—another thought that went through our minds on the inde-
pendent commission is what happens if it turns out that cost recov-
ery is not possible, given some of the factors that Chairman Davis
alluded to.

An independent commission, in our heads at the time, the—that
would have taken—it would have made it so that the expectations
of success wouldn’t have carried a political implication if it was bi-
partisan. And I still think it is a very hard road on cost recovery.
And you’ve waited many, many years on some of the claims that
are—Mr. Reilly is going to be pursuing here.

And that is going to be a very hard road to tow. That is why I
say, Mr. Reilly, I wish him well. [Laughter.]

Mr. CAPUANO. Thank you. I see that my time is up. Thank you
very much.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you. Well, I am not a student of
Massachusetts politics, but I won my first election here to the
Freshman Council at Amherst College. I was elected that, and then
I was elected president of the Young Republicans and that ended
my career in politics in Massachusetts. [Laughter.]
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Mr. CAPUANO. You should have stayed. You could have been Gov-
ernor. [Laughter.]

Chairman TOM DAVIS. I hope everybody works together on this,
regardless. Mr. Reilly, I am sure you will work with the Governor’s
office. I mean, this is—this really rises above politics at this point.
There has been—so many bad things have happened to this, what-
ever our views, we just need to pull together.

But let me ask you this. Your MOU with the Turnpike Authority
ends in 2006, is that right?

Mr. REILLY. Yes.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. And this is all not likely to be finished by

that time. Obviously, you want to tie up as many loose ends as you
can. What is the strategy to tying up the loose ends after that?
Just to renew it?

Mr. REILLY. That is the end of my term, and I did not feel that
it was appropriate to bind anyone else. I have accepted this respon-
sibility. Someone else would decline it, and I understand that.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. And obviously you would love to wrap it
up, but I doubt it. You know, if it happens, then—you don’t think
there will be a problem in renewing, though, do you, with whoever
your successor is?

Mr. REILLY. No, I don’t. But I should tell you what our strategy
is, and we have shared it with everyone. The termination of the
leaks and how we go about this and who pays for it and who has
responsibility in finding a solution is going to go a long way.

We have indicated that if we get by that point, we are willing
to enter into negotiation for a global settlement for all of the cost
recovery efforts, if we get beyond that. If we do not, the likelihood
would be litigation, which would be costly and very time-consum-
ing. So, you know, I am not ruling out that these matters can be
resolved.

The reason we stepped up here is I think you need, I think the
American people need, the taxpayers need Massachusetts’ deci-
sions. A decision in an office and someone that is willing to accept
responsibility for those decisions, and then what will come will
come, and we will accept that. But that is what we are trying to
be about.

We are trying to get into a point where we can make decisions,
good decisions, fact-based decisions. And I agree with you that this
is beyond politics. This is far beyond and far too important for poli-
tics. It involves the future of this State in terms of not just the im-
mediate project but other projects that are coming down the road.
I take that responsibility very seriously.

We will work in a bipartisan fashion, both the Federal and State
officials, and with the Governor’s office. You want results, and we
are going to try to give you those results. And then people can
measure them at the end.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Sure. Let me ask another question. The
individuals who approved the payments—I think, Mr. Mead, we
talked about how close everybody was up here. The contractors
were close to the people that were overseeing it, and how really
outside the box—how unusual it is for people to just approve these
change orders and not really get resolved who was to blame and
what was within the scope of work, and that kind of thing.
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We don’t know yet if there is evidence of collusion. But is it pos-
sible, as we look back at these payments that were approved, is—
if we find evidence of collusion or somebody acting in an ultravirus
way of approving things they shouldn’t have and money went out
the door, that individuals could be held responsible who were in ba-
sically the State or Federal lines of authority?

Mr. MEAD. Yes. This project has been remarkably scandal-free
from the standpoint of hard evidence of criminal activity at least
to date. I think that this project, when it started, a lot of hard
questions that should not—should have been asked were not asked.
A lot of change orders were approved, that had the project been
properly scoped to begin with, I don’t think they would have—I
don’t think they would have occurred.

I don’t think the jury is in yet on whether—the extent of—that
we might find malfeasance on this project. You know, the tail on
this project of claims was—I mentioned the $400 million. That is
going to take some time to resolve, long after the project is com-
plete.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. I understand. General Reilly, would you
agree? As you look at some of these—some of the approvals that
were given early on for these change orders, you are going to be
looking behind it. Are you going to be looking for evidence that
maybe people were—I don’t want to say on the take, but the close-
ness of the people involved in this, is that going to be a factor as
you look at this?

Mr. REILLY. Obviously, it will be a factor. But you have to bear
in mind the very structure of this project, the way it was organized,
integrated project management encouraged that type of——

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Collegial.
Mr. REILLY. Now, people did not think this thing through when

they set up this structure, because now we are at the point where
we are allocating and determining accountability and responsibil-
ity, and that is very difficult under the organizational setup. And
if there are lessons to be learned, that is one of them. I am not sure
you want to do this again on a project of——

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Right.
Mr. REILLY [continuing]. Of this magnitude. But, again, this is

one of the things that we will have to deal with, but that is a les-
son that should be learned.

And the last thing, in terms of some of the liability limitations,
in terms of capping that, the insurance situation in terms of the
amount of insurance for a project of this magnitude, it is totally un-
acceptable. And we will be speaking to that down the road, and I
am sure you are aware of it and you will want further briefings.
But there are a lot of lessons to be learned.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Was that partly Federal responsibility,
the fact that the insurance levels, the bonding was so low?

Mr. REILLY. Well, I think on both—you know, it is a shared re-
sponsibility.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. OK.
Mr. REILLY. But there are insurance problems in terms of the

amount; $50 million obviously is not sufficient. There is a gap in
that because of the failure of Reliant. That is a problem. There are
a lot of problems, but they need to be dealt with.
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Chairman TOM DAVIS. I understand.
Mr. REILLY. And we are going to try to do it.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you.
Mr. MEAD. And, you know, you asked about—this is not—this is

not something I would characterize as collusion. I know you would
be interested in this point. This project had an insurance program
where they would bill the Federal Government for premiums, and
it is an allowable expense under the Federal law to pay the pre-
miums, a certain percentage of them.

It turned out that after we were billed that the insurance com-
pany would notify the project that the premium for the period that
we had paid for was not as high as had been billed. That they
had—and that was an annual review they would do of the claims
experience and they said, ‘‘So the premium isn’t as high.’’

And an arrangement was in place on this project where those
premiums were retained and put in a trust account where they ac-
crued interest. And the Federal Government was not aware of this
particular arrangement.

In effect, I think they had an insurance program in place here
where we were paying premiums for insurance billings, and we
should have been refunded a great deal of the money that was kept
in a trust account. That wasn’t evidence of collusion, but I think
it was evidence of an impropriety.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Yes. I am sure the attorney general will
look at that, among other things. Is that——

Mr. REILLY. We will take whatever information that is——
Chairman TOM DAVIS. OK.
Mr. REILLY [continuing]. That we have, and then call it as we see

it at the end.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. OK. My last question—Mr. Gee, with the

number of leaks and the type of leaks in a tunnel, with the engi-
neering issues of this complexity, is it about normal? Is it more
leaks than normal? Is it fewer leaks? I mean, how would you take
a look at how it is complied from an engineering perspective and
the construction basis, with what would be expected? I am not talk-
ing about the cost overruns. I am just talking about the perform-
ance.

Mr. GEE. Well, I guess that answered two parts. As we talked
about—the picture you saw here, we would not expect that to hap-
pen. That is clearly a problem, and that was a—I would character-
ize that as a construction defect.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. That is a good answer, yes.
Mr. GEE. A latent defect. [Laughter.]
But we do expect some type of water to get in. When you build

tunnels underwater, that is expected. The concern we would have
in the long term is that water doesn’t lie there and corrode the
steel. That is when it becomes a problem.

Through our research, we have indicated—and we use as a gauge
about 1 gallon per minute per thousand feet of tunnel as a rough
estimate of the amount of water that we would expect that
wouldn’t be a problem. But even that amount could be a problem
if it is left to corrode the steel. OK? So it is not actually the number
of leaks, but the amount of water that could penetrate the tunnel
and sit and allow it to corrode the steel. That would be a concern.
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Chairman TOM DAVIS. And what you are saying is today—you
think after you are through with everything you are going to prob-
ably render a decision that the tunnel is safe. But we don’t want
to be back here in 10 years looking at a $5 billion repair bill be-
cause of things that have corroded and——

Mr. GEE. No. We would expect through a maintenance and in-
spection program that any water that does come through would be
a minimal amount and would not cause any problems, corrosion-
wise or safety-wise.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. What are the maintenance costs for the
tunnel? Do you have any idea?

Mr. GEE. No. I really do not. That would be something that I
think the next panel, the Turnpike Authority——

Chairman TOM DAVIS. OK.
Mr. GEE [continuing]. Would be able to answer.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you very much.
Mr. Lynch.
Mr. LYNCH. Just a followup, Mr. Gee. You said that you thought

that this tunnel was placed under the National Bridge Inspection
Program. Is it, or isn’t it? I was told that it was earlier, but——

Mr. GEE. No. What I—excuse me if I state something incorrectly,
or misstate. We are proposing to institute a tunnel inspection pro-
gram similar to our National Bridge Inspection Program.

Mr. LYNCH. OK.
Mr. GEE. The bridges on this project are subject to the bridge in-

spection program.
Mr. LYNCH. Right. Right. But you were going to include the

tunnel——
Mr. GEE. Right.
Mr. LYNCH [continuing]. Which is not necessarily required, but

under the circumstances is a good idea?
Mr. GEE. Right. Actually, the Turnpike Authority has been

proactive in helping us design such a program, because of the com-
plexity of this project and the scale of the project.

Mr. LYNCH. OK. Thank you. Attorney General Reilly, can you
give us a snapshot on—I understand this is ongoing litigation, so
you can’t really—I wouldn’t want you to disclose anything that
might undermine your negotiating position with respect to cost re-
covery cases that you took over from Judge Ginsburg.

And I understand that for the first 8 years of this project—there
was a cost recovery program instituted in 1994. And up until 2002,
it had recovered a total of $35,000, is that what we are saying?
$35,000?

Mr. MEAD. Yes, sir.
Mr. LYNCH. And we are at about—it was about——
Mr. MEAD. I was $5,000 off before. Let me correct the record. It

was $35,000 not $30,000.
Mr. LYNCH. All right. And we are up to—on a project at that

point that was $10.8 billion. So we had recovered $35,000.
And then, Judge Ginsburg came in under the directorship of Mr.

Amorello. Now you are taking the cases that were begun by the
Judge, and also you are handling any other aspect of recovery that
we might hope to succeed in.

Mr. MEAD. Yes, sir.
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Mr. LYNCH. All right. Can you give us a—without, again, divulg-
ing any sensitive information regarding the liability of certain law-
suits, could you give us a snapshot of where we are today?

Mr. REILLY. Yes. One lawsuit has been stayed that had to do
with financial management. That lawsuit has been stayed.

Mr. LYNCH. Stayed on your part.
Mr. REILLY. Stayed on our part.
Mr. LYNCH. In other words, you made a determination that it

was not viable and you pulled back.
Mr. REILLY. No. We made a determination to hold on that case

to see where the overall effort goes.
Mr. LYNCH. OK.
Mr. REILLY. There are other—some eight section design lawsuits

that are in effect. Those are going forward. I think the first one is
scheduled for trial later this year, but they will proceed on a regu-
lar basis.

The strategy here is that we will either come to some resolution
on the leak situation, both short term and long term, and allocate
a dollar figure to that we believe is fair to both the Federal Govern-
ment and the State government and the taxpayers, or this is head-
ed for litigation, all of it, including the potential for additional law-
suits.

But we are—we believe it is in everyone’s interest to resolve this
matter if we can, but with no expense to any taxpayers and to re-
cover as much money as we can. What that time table will be, I
can’t promise you that, but——

Mr. LYNCH. OK.
Mr. REILLY [continuing]. We would set a date on that, except

that we are—we are proceeding with the leaks as No. 1. No. 2, we
are setting up a structure for a global negotiation, if we get beyond
this point. If it goes that way, it will go that way. If it doesn’t, it
is headed for litigation that will be very costly, and it will be long
term.

Mr. LYNCH. All right. Well, that is in your hands, and it would
be overreaching on my part to suggest how you might do it. But
as an editorial comment, I would just like to say that settlement,
if it were to occur, or the litigation were to occur, would depend
greatly on the assessment of real damages within the tunnel and
how much water we have in there and the prospective maintenance
costs that we—the delta between what we should have had with
the tunnel as it was advertised and what we end up with at the
end of the day. That should be a factor in those settlements.

And all I am saying is that there is a pretty good audit going on
right now, and I would just—my own—and, again, I don’t want to
influence you, but I would not enter into any negotiations with
these folks until we get all of that information.

And, you know, based on what I have seen so far and the lack
of willingness to negotiate in good faith, I would just say, you hang
tough, and we are with you. And we realize that you didn’t have
to take on this case, and that you did it out of a spirit of good gov-
ernment and protecting the taxpayer.

I have a bad feeling about this. I think that the numbers that
we are seeing here for—you know, just counting heads down in
that tunnel, the number of people that are fixing those—that are
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plugging those holes, and the number of leaks we have, and it
didn’t get any better this summer than it did last winter, I just
think we have a whale of a problem down there.

And I would just not want to settle short and then end up with
a huge bill later on behalf of the—you know, the taxpayers of the
Commonwealth.

Mr. REILLY. I am in total agreement with you, Congressman.
There will be no settlement, and there will be no detailed negotia-
tions until we get the information that we need to make an assess-
ment whether the problem has been fixed, to what extent it has
been fixed, whether there are long-term maintenance, and what is
that going to cost. And until we get to that point, we are not going
far.

We expect them to do the job that they were paid to do. And
until they do that—there is an old saying, if you broke it, fix it.

Mr. LYNCH. Right.
Mr. REILLY. Fix it, and step up and take responsibility for it, and

pay for what you broke. And then we will move on. If we don’t get
to that point, then there will be no negotiations.

Mr. MEAD. Congressman Lynch, I would just like to
supplement——

Mr. LYNCH. Sure.
Mr. MEAD [continuing]. Or amplify on something you said. In my

statement, you will notice that we stress some cautionary notes
about running to the bank with a $17 million estimate. I think that
when we first started hearing about——

Mr. LYNCH. Now, let us—just for clarity, the $17 million is re-
garding leak——

Mr. MEAD. There was an earlier——
Mr. LYNCH [continuing]. Patching or waterproofing, right?
Mr. MEAD. Yes. And patching and—the early estimates were

that, well, $7 million had been paid to fix leaks, and another—
there might be another $10 million out there. And our testimony
deliberately expresses some cautionary notes on taking that figure
and running with it, and that is because, as you know, we have
been working with the Artery and the Governor’s office and the
Federal Highway Administration to have Deloitte & Touche do an
audit of the costs. They are reporting in mid-May.

Now, I think a lot of people with these leaks—their frame of ref-
erence is somehow the month of September in 2004. But if we all
remember, in 1997, the Artery set up a task force called the Water-
proofing Task Force. There was a reason they did that in 1997. By
the year 2000, that task force was called—there was a new task
force, and this one was called the Leak Task Force.

So we started out with a waterproofing one in 1997; in 2000/
2001, we had a leak task force. So the costs associated with this—
the cautionary note I am raising here go back longer in time than
we had initially thought.

Mr. LYNCH. Right. And, you know, I noted that in my notes, that
in the reports we are reading at some point in time—and I am not
sure what precipitated that—but the Waterproofing Task Force be-
came the Leak Task Force. And, you know, it begs the question.

One thing I wanted to ask both of you, it seems that in this long-
term construction schedule—and this goes back—this is about 16
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years that it spanned where we have had people actually on the
site on this project. It was always my understanding that, well, on
the average project, usually the completion of the job triggered the
statute of limitations.

But I understand, now that you are explaining it to me, that
phases of this contract were completed years ago, and that the stat-
ute of limitations was too old on some of these—some of the aspects
of this.

It would make sense, don’t you think, for Congress to have a spe-
cial statute of limitations for work performed on long-term con-
struction projects like this? Say, that they would go on beyond 8
years or 7 years, or some longer period of time that would not be
properly addressed by the normal statute of limitations under con-
tract law.

Mr. REILLY. A couple of things on the State side, and it certainly
is worth looking at on the Federal side. The State statute of limita-
tions has been extended for this project. We expect that to be con-
tested, and that is—that will be an issue. But, you know, this busi-
ness should have been taken care of, and we are all dealing with
something very late in the game.

Mr. LYNCH. Right.
Mr. REILLY. And we shouldn’t have to deal with the situation we

are dealing with. But the State—on the State level, there is a State
law that extended the statute of limitations to allow us to proceed.

Mr. LYNCH. All right.
Mr. MEAD. I would have to get back to you on the statute of limi-

tations. But what was fundamentally wrong here is their closeness.
Any project of this size—in fact, even smaller projects—there ought
to be an independent part of the project that is watching.

What you had here is you had a partnership between Bechtel/
Parsons Brinckerhoff and the Artery management. And now the
Commonwealth is trying to get recovery against Bechtel/Parsons
Brinckerhoff, who has been partners all these years with the Com-
monwealth of Massachusetts.

So I think that you needed to have more checkers in place from
the beginning on all these change orders that we are now going
back and saying, ‘‘Well, should we have paid these or not?’’ You
should have had an apparatus in place then.

Mr. LYNCH. Right.
Mr. MEAD. That is a lesson learned. I don’t want to keep coming

back to the Wilson Bridge, but that is one of the things that the
Wilson Bridge started doing right from day one. Well, not exactly
from day one, but shortly after it got underway. And I know it
costs the taxpayers a little bit of money to have some auditors
around, but I think at the end of the day we will be very happy
that we did so.

Mr. LYNCH. I agree. This integrated project organization, the
IPO, that is sort of the source of a lot of problems that we are look-
ing at today, under that—based on previous testimony in some of
the pre-conference—prehearing conferences, it was Bechtel’s re-
sponsibility to report to the Turnpike Authority.

But since they were so close that in many ways that reporting
was internal, because their organizations were blended. And there
was no reporting to an independent—as you describe, an independ-
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ent agent on behalf of the taxpayer. And I was mystified that there
is no requirement that there be an independent agent there that
gets reports on a monthly or biweekly basis, so that they can track
the project on behalf of the taxpayer, because that is who is ulti-
mately paying the bill here.

And I am just wondering if there is any office or any structure
that you are aware of that would allow us to provide that parallel
reporting requirement, so that it is not all in-house. Either of you
gentlemen.

Mr. MEAD. Well, no, I am not aware of an explicit such arrange-
ment. I think perhaps there ought to be one. You do have the Fed-
eral Highway Administration.

Mr. LYNCH. Right.
Mr. MEAD. These people are getting taxpayer dollars. I mean,

they are getting a lot of money from the Federal Government, and
I don’t think it is inappropriate to establish some reporting line.
And you can go back in history on this project, and Bechtel/Parsons
Brinckerhoff knew and did go and brief the head of the Central Ar-
tery about where the costs were headed on this project.

Mr. LYNCH. Right.
Mr. MEAD. And it sure would have been nice in—with the 20/20

hindsight we have today, if Bechtel/Parsons Brinckerhoff had come
to my office at that time, or come to the Federal Highway Adminis-
tration and said, ‘‘This project is headed north to the neighborhood
of $13 or $14 billion.’’

Mr. LYNCH. Right.
Mr. MEAD. But that did not happen.
Mr. LYNCH. OK. Well, that is maybe something we can address

in the regs with the Federal Highway Administration.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I yield back.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you. Mr. Capuano.
Mr. CAPUANO. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Gentlemen, I would like to just pursue—I mean, one of the—I am

not an engineer, and I know that the next panel is supposed to be
a little bit more technically oriented, except for Mr. Gee. But none-
theless, the engineering parts are one thing, and that is what the
attorney general is going to do over the next several months or
years, try and determine who is responsible for what engineering
issues.

In the final analysis, though, let us assume that you find some-
body is responsible for something. There has to be money on the
table, and there has to be money to get. And in my limited experi-
ence, there is two places to go. No. 1 is holdbacks, money that was
not paid to the contractors pending whatever negotiations you
have. And No. 2 is to the surety bonds, which every major contract
is supposed to have. I don’t know if it is a regulation, but it cer-
tainly should have, never mind whether it is required or not.

And I guess I have a couple of questions, and my guess is that
they would be addressed both to Mr. Mead and Mr. Reilly, most
importantly. Are you satisfied now that either there are enough
holdbacks on this general project to address, if not every dollar, you
know, the bulk of the—well, and I know that some of these—much
of these costs haven’t been estimated. But are you comfortable with
the percentages?
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As I understand it right now, the Federal Government is just
holding I think it is $81 million. That is 1 percent of the Federal
dollars. So, in my mind, I mean, my uneducated mind, that is not
enough. But it is what we have.

And as I understand it—and, again, I would like to be corrected,
I am not the insurance expert. But as I understand it—and I think,
Mr. Attorney General, you just mentioned it, that Bechtel/Parsons
Brinckerhoff only has $50 million, with $10 million not even nec-
essarily there, probably more like $40 million worth of insurance
on this issue.

And Modern Continental, which, first of all, doesn’t exist any-
more, but the company that has taken them over, I guess as I un-
derstand it, picked up their insurance, which is $252 million, but
that $252 million, as I understand it, may be subject to claims on
Route 3, may be subject to claims in a Long Island project that
may take up the whole thing, and probably other projects that
Modern Continental is involved in.

And I guess, No. 1, are you satisfied that the numbers of dollars
that are available to settle these issues are there? And, No. 2, are
you looking at both the surety bonds, the other contractors, not just
Modern—that is the big one at the moment—the subcontractors,
the manufacturers—I mean, we have items that were manufac-
tured, both roofing materials that may or may not come under
scrutiny, some of the computer and some of the software issues and
some of the intelligent transportation issues, etc.

And I guess for me, are you satisfied at the moment that the
money is there on the table? Subject to debate and liability and
lawsuits and negotiations, is it there for us to get?

Mr. REILLY. I can’t say that at this point. I can tell you right now
there are serious questions on the insurance, on the amount of in-
surance, and there is a gap in that insurance because of the failure
of Reliant. And that is a problem.

In terms of what money will be available from what source, we
are currently exploring that. But I can’t represent to you right now
that there is enough money that we are going—there is money that
is being withheld by the project. Whether or not that will be—that
will be enough in total to resolve these claims, I can’t tell you that
right now. I can tell you that we are looking at every source and
every potential source.

And as I said, and as—there are bottom lines in all of this, and,
yes, there are problems with the setup and the IPO and all of that.
But we feel, and we feel very strongly, that the ultimate respon-
sibility here lies with Bechtel. And we intend to hold Bechtel ac-
countable, and they have represented to the public that they are
willing to accept responsibility for what they did, and let us see.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Will the gentleman yield? And I guess the
question is that if the bond money isn’t there, or if the money
hasn’t been held back, you can sue them directly, correct?

Mr. REILLY. Pardon?
Chairman TOM DAVIS. You could sue them directly and ask for

the money back.
Mr. REILLY. Yes.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. You always have that option.
Mr. REILLY. Yes. Yes.
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Chairman TOM DAVIS. And, of course, GSA or Federal Highways
or anybody else always has the threat of debarment. There are a
lot of—depending what you find, there are a lot of ways to get the
money. It is not as easy as if we had the bond, as I think Mr.
Capuano indicated. If you had the bond, or you were holding money
back, it is a lot easier. But——

Mr. REILLY. It is a lot easier.
Mr. DAVIS [continuing]. We are not without having some rem-

edies here.
Mr. REILLY. We have some remedies, and I believe very strongly

that it is——
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Good question, though.
Mr. REILLY [continuing]. In everyone’s best interest to step up

here and accept responsibility for what they did and pay for what
needs to take place in terms of fixing this problem. I believe that,
and we will see. They made those representations; we will see.

Mr. MEAD. I concur with the attorney general. There is a thing
called a retainage, that the Artery does have some retainage ac-
counts for some of these contractors. Like Modern Continental,
there is a retainage account. My recollection is that there is $15
or $20 million in it. But that probably—I don’t know how sufficient
that is going to be.

I do not believe in the case of Bechtel/Parsons Brinckerhoff that
there is a retainage account. But the chairman is right; I mean,
there is any number of different avenues for getting the money.
The $81 million is what the feds owe the Commonwealth. You
know, it is just money that is owed the Commonwealth. And by
law, it will go to the Commonwealth when they get their finance
plan in order, which I hope is soon.

Mr. CAPUANO. I hope so as well. I understand that there are
other routes to take, but we all know that those routes get more
difficult, particularly when you are dealing with the largest general
contractor, the one with the most questions, at the moment is
bankrupt.

And you are going to have to get in line, unless—I can’t imagine
we have a priority here somewhere that I am—and, again, I am not
an expert in any of these things, but I am not aware that we would
have any priority ahead of any other debtor or claimant against
Modern Continental.

And if they are gone, that is my biggest concern. I mean, that
is why I asked about subcontractors and other contractors, espe-
cially, as I understand it, this particular—the major breach that we
are talking about, the one that everybody likes to show on TV, that
was Modern Continental.

I understand they were the largest contractor on the project, and
that is why—that is the main reason I asked the question is be-
cause, with them bankrupt, that adds a whole other layer of seri-
ous questions as to whether we will ever get the money, never
mind the judgments.

Yes, Mr. Gee.
Mr. GEE. The only thing I would add is that on each contract

they have a surety bond. So if they default on one, it might not af-
fect the Route 3, because they have a separate bond on Route 3.
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Mr. CAPUANO. I understand. I guess maybe I wasn’t clear, but
one of my concerns is, for the sake of discussion—again, I am no
expert, but it just strikes me that a $50 million—well, it is not a
surety bond, but a de facto surety bond, on Bechtel/Parsons is pret-
ty small for a company that made—correct me if I am wrong—in
the $2 billion range, which, fine, if the project works, maybe they
are entitled to $2 billion.

But if you have $2 billion—I know that if a guy were building
me a $2 billion house, I would want a little bit higher insurance
rate than $50 million. And if that is all that is there, to me it is
not whether they have it or not, it is how much.

And I understand that the attorney general would be the one
hopefully that will pursue our interest to determine how much is
ours. But if he gets a settlement for—pick a number, $100 mil-
lion—if it is there in the surety, we don’t have to go through the
next rigmarole of trying to sue the individual company that may
or may not have bank accounts. Who knows whether they are in
Switzerland. I don’t know any of those things.

But we all know that if it is in a surety, it is a lot easier. And
I know I, for one, am tired of this whole dance, and we all want
it over. And when it gets time to get it over, I don’t want to have
to go through another 10 years of chasing the money. But I guess
we are where we are, and that is why I wanted to ask those ques-
tions.

Thank you.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Very good questions. Thank you all very

much. I think this has been very illuminating for us.
Mr. LYNCH. May I ask one last question?
Chairman TOM DAVIS. OK. Mr. Lynch wants the final question.
Mr. LYNCH. You know, it just kind of stuck in my head, you were

describing—Inspector General Mead, you were describing this
transaction where the Authority was overcharged for insurance,
and they got a rebate back. They got the money from the Federal
Government, right?

Mr. MEAD. I was——
Mr. LYNCH. Paid their insurance.
Mr. MEAD. Yes. The government——
Mr. LYNCH. Then, the insurance company says to them, ‘‘You

overpaid. Here is a chunk of money back.’’ I don’t know how much
money that was. They put it in a trust account, and then you never
said what they did with the money in the trust account.

Mr. MEAD. Right. In fact, they had this accounting technique—
I think it is an accounting gimmick—where the actual cost of the
Artery, say just hypothetically, was known to be $10 billion. But
if there was $800,000 of interest in this account, they would deduct
the $800,000 and say, ‘‘Well, the project is only really costing $9.2
million instead of $10 million.’’

Mr. LYNCH. So it was a setoff. They are using it that way any-
way.

Mr. MEAD. Yes. I mean, and later on, as I think Bechtel/Parsons
Brinckerhoff notes in its testimony, they had to make an account-
ing adjustment where they had to reflect the fact that all of this
money had accrued in this insurance trust.

Mr. LYNCH. Any idea how much money we are talking here?
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Mr. MEAD. It might have been in the neighborhood of close to
$800,000 or $900,000—$800 or $900 million.

Mr. LYNCH. $800 or $900 million?
Mr. MEAD. It might have been in that neighborhood.
Mr. LYNCH. You guys want to confer on that?
Mr. MEAD. It is not there now.
Mr. LYNCH. Right. No, no.
Mr. MEAD. I mean, they fixed it.
Mr. LYNCH. But——
Mr. MEAD. But I do think that it resulted in a fairly large ac-

counting adjustment to reflect the change in the cost of the Ar-
tery—it might have been in the neighborhood—my recollection is
it was around $1 billion.

Mr. LYNCH. Around $1 billion.
OK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you, this panel, very much. It has

been very illuminating for the committee, and I appreciate your
time. We will take a 2-minute recess as we move to our next panel.

[Recess.]
Chairman TOM DAVIS. We have Chairman Matthew Amorello,

who is the Massachusetts Turnpike Authority, the entity charged
with overseeing the Big Dig. Thank you very much for being with
us. We have John MacDonald, chairman of the Board of Control for
Bechtel/Parsons Brinckerhoff, the management consultant for the
project.

Mr. MacDonald, you are accompanied, I understand here, by Mr.
Morris Levy, the senior vice president at Parsons Brinckerhoff, and
Keith Sibley, the program manager for the project. Thank you all
for being with us.

And we also have Mr. George Tamaro, who is a partner at
Mueser Rutledge Consulting Engineers, and a former engineering
consultant for the Big Dig. Mr. Tamaro’s extensive experience in
slurry wall technology and major infrastructure projects provides
valuable insight to this committee’s oversight efforts.

It is our policy we swear everybody in before you testify. If you
would rise with me, raise your right hands.

Let me just identify the people in the back row who may be
called on, so we can get your names on the record.

Mr. SWANSON. Mike Swanson, chief of operations and chief engi-
neer for the Turnpike Authority.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you.
Mr. LEWIS. Michael Lewis, project director for the CA/T project.
Ms. BREEN. Marie Breen, CA/T chief counsel.
Mr. WILEY. Matt Wiley, former program manager.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you.
Mr. LANCELLOTTI. Tony Lancellotti, former engineering manager.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. OK. Thank you all for being with us. Now

I am going to swear you in.
[Witnesses sworn.]
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you very much.
Mr. Amorello, we will start with you. You have a key role in this.

If you need to take more than 5 minutes, we certainly understand.
But your entire testimony is in the record.
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STATEMENTS OF MATTHEW J. AMORELLO, CHAIRMAN, MASSA-
CHUSETTS TURNPIKE AUTHORITY; JOHN MacDONALD,
CHAIRMAN, BOARD OF CONTROL, BECHTEL/PARSONS
BRINCKERHOFF, ACCOMPANIED BY MORRIS LEVY, SENIOR
VICE PRESIDENT, PARSONS BRINCKERHOFF, INC., AND
KEITH S. SIBLEY, P.E., PROGRAM MANAGER, CENTRAL AR-
TERY/TUNNEL PROJECT, BECHTEL/PARSONS
BRINCKERHOFF; AND GEORGE J. TAMARO, PARTNER,
MUESER RUTLEDGE CONSULTING ENGINEERS

STATEMENT OF MATTHEW J. AMORELLO

Mr. AMORELLO. That is great, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Chairman, I have a brief opening statement. I would like to

read it into the record.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. That would be great. Thanks for being

with us.
Mr. AMORELLO. Mr. Chairman, welcome to Massachusetts. Wel-

come home to Congressman Lynch and Congressman Capuano.
My name is Matthew Amorello, and I am the chairman of the

Massachusetts Turnpike Authority. I welcome this opportunity to
appear before you to discuss the current management of the Cen-
tral Artery/Tunnel Project and the steps we are taking to ensure
that this project fulfills its promise to the citizens, taxpayers, and
tollpayers of this region and the Nation.

My mission upon taking office a little over 3 years ago was chal-
lenging, and I come here before you today to say that I believe we
have met those challenges and continue to meet them on a daily
basis. My first mission was to bring order and stability to a demor-
alized and chaotic Turnpike Authority.

We have done that, and today’s Turnpike Authority is a well-or-
ganized, efficient, and highly motivated public authority focused on
delivering quality service to the people of Massachusetts in a cost-
effective manner. In fact, Moody’s Investor Service has said that
the turnpike ‘‘Board has shown strong commitment to rebuilding
the Authority’s financial position.’’

My second mission was to maintain the costs of this project and
restore credibility to our financial management of the Big Dig.
Again, I am pleased to report that we have accomplished these
goals. This project, like all public projects, must be conducted in a
transparent and forthcoming manner. I have made every effort
since becoming chairman to ensure that our Federal and State
partners and overseers have received all of the information they
need, when they need it, in order to do their jobs effectively.

The project’s budget today is exactly the same as it was when I
took office—$14.625 billion. I think it might be useful to briefly re-
view where and how these funds were spent. Approximately $6 bil-
lion was for the extension of the I–90 interstate, including the Ted
Williams Tunnel and Four-Point Channel Tunnel, which now con-
nect the Massachusetts Turnpike directly to Logan Airport and
points north, diverting traffic away from downtown Boston. This
part of the project has dramatically cut drive times to Logan and
decreased traffic in the central corridor.

Approximately $8 billion has been spent building the new tunnel
and ramps from Charlestown and Interstate 93 to the Tobin Bridge
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and Route 1, the Zacamb Bridge, and the ramps connecting
Sturrow Drive and Interstate 93, and, of course, the construction
of the I–93 tunnels, which are still being completed beneath the
city.

This project has expanded capacity and eliminated a dangerous
choke point for the motorists traveling through the city. It is ex-
pected to reduce carbon monoxide levels in the metropolitan Boston
area by 12 percent, and has removed the elevated highway which
for 50 years separated the city’s financial and historic centers from
its waterfront and several of its neighborhoods.

In addition to holding the budget, we have taken several initia-
tives to protect this public investment, including the first meaning-
ful effort in the history of the project to recover costs for design er-
rors and omissions.

My third mission was to ensure that the project did not lose sight
of its primary objective—to replace the old, ineffective highway net-
work, which threatened to destroy mobility and economic growth in
the city and region, with a modern, safe, and efficient interstate
highway system for those who live, work, or visit New England.

I am pleased to report that we have opened almost every major
component of this project to the public, who are now enjoying the
benefits of this important investment. In 2003, we met three major
milestones that marked the turning point toward completion of this
project—the opening of the extension of Interstate 90, the opening
of the Interstate 93 northbound and southbound tunnels. The en-
tire project will reach substantial completion this fall.

I note these achievements, because I understand this project is
often in the news, and the news, as reported, is not very encourag-
ing. It is sometimes easy to forget all of the positive steps we have
taken over the past 3 years.

The significant strides that have been made to set this project
back on track, to keep faith with our Federal and State stakehold-
ers, and to deliver on the promise of an urban interstate highway
system, that when completed will be one of the marvels of this Na-
tion’s long and sustained effort that began with President Eisen-
hower over half a century ago, creating a national highway net-
work second to none in the world.

As you came to this chamber today, you no doubt noticed that
the old elevated highway is gone. It is being replaced by the Rose
Fitzgerald Kennedy Greenway—a magnificent public amenity
above ground and a modern, efficient interstate highway under-
ground.

Let me now address two specific areas that are in the forefront
of our current project oversight efforts. The first area concerns the
issue related to leaks in the tunnels. The second concerns our ef-
forts to establish a meaningful program for cost recovery.

With respect to the issue of tunnel leaks, the first thing I need
to emphasize is that the tunnels are operating well, and, Congress-
man Capuano, they are safe. Earlier this month we received a re-
port from the Federal Highway Administration as part of that
agency’s independent and ongoing oversight of the project. Federal
Highway affirmed what I have been consistently saying; the tun-
nels are safe and structurally sound.
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Slurry wall breach that occurred last September was an unac-
ceptable result of poor workmanship and failed project oversight.
The responsible parties are being held accountable by the Turnpike
Authority, and they are undertaking to repair the slurry wall in an
appropriate manner. After the September breach, I ordered an in-
spection of each of the 2,000 slurry wall panels in the I–93 tunnels,
and I initiated a weekly update on the inspections and the identi-
fied defects in order to keep the public and our overseers informed.

This thorough investigation of the entire slurry wall system was
undertaken to ensure that any additional defects are identified and
corrected. At our insistence, each contractor to date has taken re-
sponsibility for identified defects, and is correcting those defects at
their own expense.

The FHWA report notes the differences between slurry wall de-
fects and the various low-level leaks that are largely attributable
to the fact that this project is not yet complete. Federal Highways’
report states, ‘‘The project is adequately addressing the tunnel
leaks. We have confidence in the plan that is being followed by the
Turnpike Authority and project staff, and we can expect that the
work will be completed as offered by the Massachusetts Turnpike
Authority.’’

Based on some media reports, public perception has been that
the low-level leaks at the roof wall joints were ‘‘discovered’’ after
the September 15 breach. This is false and has unfortunately con-
fused two very different issues. On the evening news in the Boston
area, we routinely see video of the September 15 slurry wall breach
and hear talk of hundreds of leaks, leaving the impression that
there were hundreds of issues like the breach, which is not true.

As I have said, the two breaches and more minor slurry wall de-
fects are absolutely unacceptable, and the contractors must fix
them at their own expense. With respect to low-level leaks, they
are part of an ongoing construction, and contractors have been
sealing them, doing injection grouting for some 4 years.

The FHWA report’s first finding states that chronic low-level
leaks were noted and expected to some degree due to the depth of
the tunnel, and the sealing of all leaks is expected to be completed
later this year.

I want each of you to be assured that I have insisted that project
staff and consultants spare no effort to ensure that all water infil-
tration issues are identified and resolved to my satisfaction and the
satisfaction of the Federal Highway Administration as promptly as
possible. We are insisting upon a high level of attention to detail
and quality control, as expected by FHWA, in the resolution of
these issues. And we will continue to be completely transparent
with the public and our Federal and State partners and overseers
as we undertake this work.

We are currently inspecting the entire tunnel system for possible
points of water infiltration, something that is part of our historic
ongoing inspection protocol. I have with me today the project direc-
tor, Michael Lewis; the turnpike’s chief engineer/chief operating of-
ficer, Michael Swanson; his deputy chief engineer, Helmet Ernst;
and John Christian, the technical advisor to the Massachusetts
Turnpike Authority Board of Directors, along with the project chief
counsel, Marie Breen and other turnpike senior staff, in order to
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respond to more detailed questions that you may have on this sub-
ject.

There are many misunderstandings and false assumptions asso-
ciated with the number and nature of the leaks that we will be
happy to address in more detail.

The second area I would like to discuss today is our effort to take
meaningful steps toward cost recovery. When I became chairman,
the project had a weak record in recovering costs. I moved quickly
to correct that. First, I hired the National Academy of Engineering
from Washington to provide me with an objective study and report
on the overall status of the project.

Next, I established an independent cost recovery team to begin
an unprecedented effort to identify areas ripe for cost recovery and
to take action. Led by a retired Massachusetts Judge, this cost re-
covery team built a strong foundation for this ongoing effort.

The team’s work was fully supported by the Turnpike Authority,
and if I may quote from the team’s final report to the Federal
Highway Administration, ‘‘Massachusetts Turnpike Authority
Chairman Amorello created the independent team to hold the de-
sign professionals and construction managers of the Big Dig ac-
countable for costs caused by their errors or omissions. He backed
us up with a substantial budget, which gave us the ability to hire
world-renowned engineers to assess the work and uncover defi-
ciencies, and to hire the legal firepower to aggressively prosecute
lawsuits.’’

Today, those cost recovery efforts are being ably led by our
State’s chief law enforcement officer, Attorney General Tom Reilly.
The transition from our cost recovery team to the attorney general
this February was the right thing to do, once a proper foundation
was laid.

I have come to recognize that with a project of this size and noto-
riety, many will second-guess these efforts. But this project needs
cost recovery oversight by an individual and an office of irrefutable
independence with the clout to back up their work. That is why it
was so important to transfer the responsibility for cost recovery to
the attorney general.

I believe that Attorney General Reilly’s leadership and commit-
ment will bear substantial fruit for the taxpayers and restore pub-
lic confidence and our efforts to ensure that we are getting what
we paid for. He has, and will continue to have, our full cooperation
with his ongoing efforts.

Like each of you, I am a public servant, and I take my respon-
sibilities very seriously. The work we do will be judged in the short
term by the motoring public, but it will also be judged by the his-
tory and by our children and grandchildren.

I am keenly aware of the obligation to close out this project in
a way that ensures the delivery of a high-quality product that cap-
tures full value for our public funding agencies, and I am also
aware of the generational responsibility we have to ensure that
this project is completed to a standard that will stand the test of
time.

I can assure you that we are working and will continue to work
day and night to fulfill our responsibilities in this regard. We are
here today to respond to any questions you may have, and I thank
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you for the courtesy and allowing me this opportunity to make an
opening remark.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Amorello follows:]

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00078 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



75

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00079 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



76

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00080 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



77

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00081 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



78

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00082 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



79

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00083 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



80

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you very much.
Mr. MacDonald.

STATEMENT OF JOHN MacDONALD
Mr. MACDONALD. Good afternoon. Thank you for the opportunity

to appear before the committee. I am John MacDonald. And since
mid-2001, I have been chairman of the Bechtel/Parsons
Brinckerhoff Joint Venture. With me, Morris Levy, my fellow board
member from Parsons Brinckerhoff, has been with the board since
its inception. And on my left, Keith Sibley, who has been with the
project since 1988, and has been our project program manager
since mid-2004.

In my written statement, I have addressed broad topics of inter-
est to this committee, including B/PB’s responsibilities as manage-
ment consultant on the Big Dig, the history of project costs, and
our work with the State to accurately estimate and control costs.
For the next few minutes, I will focus on leakage in the I–93 tun-
nels and the implications for project quality, cost, and schedule.

As much as half of the water intrusion in the tunnels is simply
precipitation that enters through openings that remain while con-
struction continues. Part of the genius behind the original concept
of the Big Dig was allowing construction to progress while keeping
the Central Artery open to the huge daily traffic flows.

And until construction ends and the tunnels are fully sealed later
this year, water will continue to enter down uncovered traffic
ramps and through manholes and utility conduits. Even so, these
tunnels already conform to industry norms for water intrusion in
completed tunnels. And when construction is finished, the I–93
tunnels will surpass these norms.

Only a small percentage of roof wall joints in the I–93 tunnel
shows signs of low-level leaks. We and the MTA understood that
sealing such seeps would be a normal part of the construction proc-
ess, and that grouting is the industry standard practice for sealing
these leaks.

Today, 13 crews are injecting wet locations with high-tech grout.
The Federal Highway Administration reported this month that the
process for sealing seeps is effective and should be continued
through completion of construction in late September. Construction
contractors who built the tunnel sections undertook the responsibil-
ity, as part of finishing their job. They, and not the taxpayers, will
pay for the cost of the grouting program.

Last September an 8-inch hole opened in the I–93 northbound
tunnel, temporarily flooding two lanes of traffic and closing one
lane during rushhour before being plugged that evening. This wall
breach reached—resulted from a series of construction contractor
errors compounded by inadequate oversight.

We inadvertently missed an opportunity to direct the contractor
to correct the specific wall problem earlier. We have publicly ac-
knowledged our responsibilities, and we will pay our fair share of
the costs of the permanent repair. We have worked closely with the
MTA and the contractor to identify and analyze permanent repair
options. A decision is pending by the MTA.

We are also working vigorously to avert similar problems
through extensive physical inspection of the tunnel walls and thor-
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ough review of our records. In fact, we have added personnel at our
own expense to expedite this process. The inspection should be fin-
ished early next month, and repairs are now underway.

As we knew from the start, and as Federal Highways recently
confirmed, all tunnels built below the water table experience some
seepage throughout their life, including other slurry walls in Bos-
ton. After the I–93 tunnels are completed to standards, future leak-
age will be controlled by the owner as part of a normal mainte-
nance program.

This program should cost well within industry norms, given the
tunnel’s length and their extensive traffic management and safety
systems. We are confident that with normal care and proper main-
tenance these tunnels will provide excellent service to Boston into
the next century.

In conclusion, our goal is to complete this project as quickly and
as efficiently as possible. Already this project has delivered enor-
mous benefits to the Boston area motorists and reshaped the urban
landscape of the city.

We and our dedicated employees are extremely proud to be asso-
ciated with this project, and having brought through innovative en-
gineering and management the most complex urban project ever
undertaken in the United States.

So, again, I appreciate the opportunity to be here today, and we
look forward to responding to your questions.

Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Mr. MacDonald follows:]

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00085 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



82

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00086 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



83

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00087 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



84

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00088 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



85

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00089 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



86

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00090 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



87

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00091 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



88

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00092 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



89

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00093 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



90

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00094 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



91

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00095 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



92

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00096 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



93

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00097 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



94

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Mr. MacDonald, thank you very much.
Mr. Tamaro, thanks for being with us.

STATEMENT OF GEORGE J. TAMARO
Mr. TAMARO. Yes, thank you. I would reduce my presentation a

little bit in the interest of brevity for the committee.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. OK.
Mr. TAMARO. Slurry wall construction is a particularly useful

technology for installation of underground walls for both perma-
nent and temporary construction. It is particularly useful in urban
environments and difficult ground conditions.

It, in my opinion, was particularly appropriate for the construc-
tion of I–93 Central Artery and Tunnel, and perhaps was the only
technology available. Slurry wall construction—its end product, by
its very nature, is very rough textured, it is an unfinished concrete
wall, and the end product is even more regular and could be more
problematic if attempted by unskilled contractors.

The slurry wall work is started from ground level. It is carried
down to predetermined depths. The work is done in the blind from
ground level, and it requires intuition and a good deal of monitor-
ing and testing of the process as it proceeds. Slurry wall construc-
tion can be expected to have some flaws as a result of this in the
blind process.

These flaws are usually observed during the general excavation
when the walls provide temporary support for the construction. De-
fects are usually repaired as the excavation is carried downward,
and should be completed prior to the incorporation of the slurry
wall and to the permanent construction. This is the procedure that
should have been followed for the I–93 tunnel.

Of immediate concern with the I–93 tunnel are the problems as-
sociated with a number of slurry wall panels. The area of concern
is the portion of the slurry wall exposed from the top of the walk-
way to the underside of the roof, where a defect in the slurry wall
would permit flow of water and/or soil into the tunnel.

The defects are primarily in the slurry wall concrete. The steel
beams that are the vertical spanning members are not affected by
the defects in the concrete that spans horizontally from beam to
beam. These structural concrete defects cannot remain and must be
repaired as uncovered. The portions of the slurry wall above the
roof and below the roadway are of no concern and have essentially
been abandoned.

Field inspection records for one slurry wall panel, E–045, indi-
cate that the panel was not constructed in accordance with speci-
fications, and, furthermore, the wall was not adequately repaired
during general excavation. This defective panel remained stable
until September 15, 2004, when the defect could no longer resist
the external water pressure.

The defect in the wall gave way and permitted the flow of water
and soil into the I–93 tunnel. The defect in the panel is currently
temporarily protected by wooden wedges, grout, and a steel plate.
Alternative permanent repair schemes are currently under review.

As a result of the incident of September 15, the project engineer-
ing team has inspected slurry walls, as we have heard. Several
major problems have been discovered, and a large number of minor
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leaks have been identified. In addition, due to defects in the slurry
wall concrete there is a problem of leakage at the contact between
the roof—concrete roof and the slurry wall. At several locations,
water has flowed down—flowed down the face of the wall and onto
the roadway, where in the winter there is an icing problem.

There is also potential for corrosion at the roof girder connec-
tions. This is a long-term problem that has to be attended, and we
have heard discussions about the inspection program that has to be
undertaken. These connections are the main support of the roof
system and will require regular inspection and maintenance
throughout the life of the tunnel.

There is currently disagreement on the extent of the leaks and
whether the leaks will be permanently sealed at the conclusion of
construction. It is uncertain that a permanent sealing of the tunnel
roof joint will be fully achievable.

There has been a lot of discussion about quality, and I would like
to just make a comment—that there is an old adage that states
that quality will be long remembered after schedule and the costs
is forgotten. As a casual observer, I am forced to conclude that
there has been a tremendous amount of potential cost overruns and
schedule, and I am concerned that it may have had its effect upon
attention to quality.

It is now necessary that the project assure the public that quality
control issues have been addressed, and that they can use the tun-
nel without concern for their safety. This is going to take a bit of
time to do. It will not happen overnight, because there has been
this constant droning of difficulties associated with the tunnel.

Thank you very much for permitting me to testify. If you have
any questions, I am available to answer them.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Tamaro follows:]
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Chairman TOM DAVIS. So, Mr. Tamaro, how safe is it going to
be?

Mr. TAMARO. That is a question I always hesitate to answer,
because——

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Well, you are the independent guy here.
I mean, you are the——

Mr. TAMARO. I am not really, because I am not working. I have
not been working on the project for about 2 months now. I can
only——

Chairman TOM DAVIS. How safe was it 2 months ago?
Mr. TAMARO. Two months ago, I saw nothing that was of concern

to me.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. OK.
Mr. TAMARO. The safety question has—it is a difficult one to an-

swer, because there are other things that occur within the tunnel
that could cause concern to the public—the falling of debris into
the tunnel for an example, which is totally unrelated to the ques-
tion of the structure. The structure is safe, in my opinion.

There may be some leaks occasionally. There are problems that
have to be addressed. I think that the structural safety question is
not there. But there can be other problems.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Well, from your work on other large-scale
projects, like the World Trade Center recovery efforts, what are the
major mistakes that we made here, and do you think they are at
least technically corrected?

Mr. TAMARO. I think one of the biggest problems is when you
have an integrated team, and you do not have someone who is very
aggressive for that issue that he is responsible for. For example,
quality control—the quality control issues begin to take a second
step or begin to take a second role.

My experience at the World Trade Center was that I was respon-
sible for schedule and costs for the construction of the slurry wall
and the quality of the work. The Engineering Department felt that
the schedule and costs may begin to take a more important ele-
ment in my thought process, and assigned an independent engi-
neering staff to oversee the quality control that I was responsible
for.

So I had a totally independent quality assurance group over-
seeing what I was doing, and they had the authority to stop the
work at any time, if quality was being violated in any way.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. OK. Mr. MacDonald, Federal Highways
rewarded your company with the Excellence in Highway Design
Award for the Ted Williams Tunnel portion of the project back in
1996. And to my knowledge, there have not been leak issues in
that part of the project that we have seen in the I–93 tunnel.

In your opinion, what is the difference between those two? Were
the specifications and requirements for the I–93 tunnels more dif-
ficult to complete? Or did we just have some oversight issues?

Mr. MACDONALD. I think there are two different types of tunnel
construction. I think the tunnels leak. The Ted Williams Tunnel
leaks, but it is within normal industry practice. And I think we
have with the—you know, with the high profile issue that we had
on I–93, there has obviously been a lot of attention, a lot of media
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focus, a lot of other focus on the slurry wall construction and the
I–93 tunnels.

So I think that is the primary difference—a very high profile, a
very high——

Chairman TOM DAVIS. But the Williams Tunnel didn’t have the
kind of leak that Mr. Lynch put up there in construction, to my
knowledge. I think that was——

Mr. MACDONALD. I am going to refer that one to my colleagues
who were here at the time. Keith.

Mr. SIBLEY. Thanks very much, John.
As John said, the tunnels are two different types of structures.

The I–90 tunnel is what we call a cut and cover box tunnel. That
is, we excavated a deep trench in the ground, and we cast a floor,
walls, and roof, all of reinforced concrete. As John described, we did
have some leakage. There were cracks. Certain joints——

Chairman TOM DAVIS. You always get leakages below water,
right? Don’t you?

Mr. SIBLEY. That is correct. And the leak injection program, very
similar, slightly different materials that we are using on I–93 was
used there. I–93 is so different because it has the slurry walls. The
slurry walls are cast, as my colleague Mr. Tamaro identified, in the
blind, and you see what you get as you then excavate out.

So it is a different character of a wall to start with, and then the
floor is joined to those, the roof is joined to those, and it is a dif-
ferent detail.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Nevertheless, the kind of leak we saw
here probably shouldn’t have occurred, all things considered,
should it in a case like that?

Mr. SIBLEY. Oh, absolutely correct. I think that has been clear,
that the breach should not have happened.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. OK. And the I–93 tunnel just—it is more
complex, because of the nature of the slurry. Is that fair to say?

Mr. SIBLEY. Yes, correct.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. OK. Mr. Amorello, you state in your testi-

mony that the Authority has opened nearly every component of the
project to the public, who are enjoying the benefits of the invest-
ment. At this point, the press has not been that good on this issue.
A lot of this predates your being there, in terms of the cost over-
runs and everything else.

What are we doing at this point to keep this process open, to
keep the public informed, to try to restore that confidence, you
know, in the project in the future? And, you know, I am not up
here. I just catch this occasionally, but that one picture is worth
1,000 words. And that hole in the I–93 tunnel literally blew a hole
in the reputation of the integrity of the tunnel.

And I think we have had explanations today for what happened,
but what are we doing to make sure that doesn’t happen again,
and to make sure that when this tunnel opens it—when it is com-
pletely opened to the public, they are going to be satisfied that it
is safe?

Mr. AMORELLO. Mr. Chairman, I am as upset as every resident
of Massachusetts that event occurred on September 15. And it is
repeated almost nightly on the evening news, as I mentioned in my
testimony. The event was unique, as was mentioned in the Federal

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00103 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



100

Highway report. It was an isolated incident. It should not have oc-
curred.

The tunnel system that the public is driving on today is safe for
them to use. I wouldn’t have authorized it, the chief engineer or
the Turnpike Authority wouldn’t have signed off on it, nor would
Federal highway officials have signed off on opening these road-
ways for the public to use.

We have taken every step to be transparent in the process that
we have started. Every last Thursday of the month we give a
project monthly update on the costs of the project, our safety
record, our employment record, the status of uses of contingency,
to keep the public fully informed in terms of some of the discus-
sions that were held by the earlier panel.

Lessons learned—I think clearly that was one of the most impor-
tant lessons that this project implemented after the 2000 price es-
calation was in the financial report submitted to Washington every
year to reassure our partners that this price—this budget was real
and the budget was holding. And for the 3-years I have been chair-
man, that has been the case.

And at every—as I said, every last Thursday of the month, we
have a public meeting, open to the public, where project officials
come out and discuss the issue of the inspections. Every Thursday
of the week we provide an update on the status of the inspections
that we are carrying on.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Let me ask you this. I mean, I hear every-
body saying, you know, mistakes were made. OK? When did the
Authority become aware of the construction problems that led to
that breach?

Mr. AMORELLO. The Authority, in a 1999 memo to project offi-
cials, was circulated with a cc to the public employee in charge of
that particular construction contract. It is my understanding the
field records indicated that these steps were going back and forth
between Bechtel/Parsons and the contractor to repair the E–045
breach, and the understanding was that wall was repaired.

The breach that occurred on the 15th, there was no awareness
on I think anyone’s part immediately that breach would—or should
have occurred given that there was repair work done at that site
I believe in the year 2000. I could be—stand to be corrected on the
particular—that particular aspect, but there was repair work that
was conducted, obviously inadequate repair work.

The breach blew out on the 15th, and turnpike officials, Bechtel,
and our contractors immediately stepped in to repair it. And we are
now in the process of evaluating the correct method for repair. I
brought on board John Christian, an MIT engineer, geotechnical
engineer, and a member of the National Academy of Engineering,
a Massachusetts resident, to advise and consult me on the repair
method.

We have also recently retained STS out of Chicago, Clyde Baker
who is also here today, to evaluate the repair method that we put
in place. Inspector General Mead was very clear when he and I
have had several meetings in the last many months talking about
the repair method that we put in place, and to make sure the pub-
lic is assured that we have done everything possible to make this
wall safe and secure for the longevity of the tunnel system.
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These engineering experts that we have brought on, along with
turnpike staff—Mike Lewis, Mike Swanson, and Helmet Ernst
from the public side—to review the final proposal for the repair
method.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Right. And it is going to be a whole series
of inspections, obviously, before it is finally opened to the public at
that point.

Mr. AMORELLO. Correct.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. You never know what you will find, but

at this point there is—things seem to be on track.
Mr. AMORELLO. Correct.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Mr. MacDonald, what do you think—can

we talk more specifically about what happened on that major leak
in September?

Mr. MACDONALD. Yes, sir, we can.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. What happened?
Mr. MACDONALD. What happened? You go back to the construc-

tion reports at the time that panel was poured. There were several
things identified on those construction reports that should have sig-
naled—well, they shouldn’t have happened. They should have
stopped the work. That is No. 1. No. 2——

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Who was asleep at the switch? Was it
both—was it the State? Was it you all? Was it a subcontractor?
Was it a little bit everybody? Federal Highways?

Mr. MACDONALD. It was the contractor and Bechtel/Parsons
Brinckerhoff. So that was mistake one, allowing the panel to be
poured with the deviations that were identified during the con-
struction process.

The report, then having identified those things, went up the
chain through the resident engineering process, and that was the
second opportunity to catch those things, that something here was
amiss. And a flag should have gone up, and that should have re-
sulted in a very focused, very specific inspection of that panel as
the Artery was excavated. That didn’t happen.

The contractor, then, self-reported the issue when it discovered
a leak, as when the wall was uncovered and water intrusion came
in, and brought it to our attention.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Now, was this the evening of the big leak?
Mr. MACDONALD. Oh, no.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. This was before this.
Mr. MACDONALD. This was 3 years perhaps in advance of that.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Oh, OK.
Mr. MACDONALD. Construction was still underway. The engineer

responded, per procedure, to produce some non-destructive exam-
ination of the defect, to get the full scope of the defect, and then
to submit a repair procedure based on those findings. That never
happened.

What appears to have happened is the contractor went away and
repaired it in an ad hoc manner. That should not have happened.
That whole series of things that led to that breach should not have
happened.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. Now, is that contractor still with the
project?
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Mr. MACDONALD. Yes. Yes, he is. He is still working on the
project.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. OK. Has he been appropriately rep-
rimanded?

Mr. MACDONALD. He has been that. He has also stepped up to
his responsibility for making the fix.

Chairman TOM DAVIS. OK. All right. Those are my—I think
those are my questions.

I am going to turn the meeting over to Mr. Lynch—I have to
catch a plane back to Washington—to chair the meeting.

I want to thank all of you for being with us. I just want to say
this. You obviously have a serious responsibility, and the media are
all over this issue, and the public, and everything else. You know,
all of us I think have a joint responsibility to make this thing work
from here on out.

We will sort out the money downstream. The attorney general is
going to be looking into that, the IG, and who owes what. But the
safety of this project has to be a priority over the next few months,
and the—we can’t compromise with that at all. I think if you have
any other episodes like you had on September 15th, I think it is
going to seriously jeopardize the contractors in terms of future gov-
ernment contracts and the like. So everybody understands what is
at stake.

Parsons Brinckerhoff has—and Bechtel have great reputations
with the government traditionally. We have had a couple of things
go wrong here, but I just want to tell you how serious this is. That
this has reverberated not just throughout Boston and Massachu-
setts, but throughout the Federal Government as well.

So let us all work together and just make it work. And I appre-
ciate your attentiveness to this.

Thank you.
Mr. Lynch.
Mr. LYNCH. Mr. Chairman, I just want to thank you for your

leadership on this, and I do want to say just one thing before you
leave—is that what I am looking for here among the responsible
parties, not necessarily to lay the blame at one person’s door, but
to admit that there was a shared responsibility here.

And how to make this right is to make sure that the people who
are obviously blameless here, the taxpayer and the people who pay
the tolls, are held harmless. That is the goal that I have, and that
is going to require the cooperation of you all and all of the contrac-
tors and insurers and designers and everybody else to step up and
do the right thing here.

So that is—I just didn’t want you to think that was something
I said after the chairman left. But that is my stated objection—my
stated objective here, and that is what I am going to pursue. That
is what I am going to pursue, and I know the chairman is of like
mind. So I just wanted to get that out there.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman TOM DAVIS. Thank you very much. Thank you.
Mr. LYNCH [presiding]. OK. Why don’t I pick up right where the

Chairman left off. Mr. MacDonald, on most job sites that I was on
over 20 years—and I know it was different on this one—concrete
inspection was usually handled by—a firm would come in inde-
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pendently and check the contractor’s work, check the quality of the
concrete, and, you know, the performance according to the specs.

In this case, from reading the documents, apparently you had
your own field engineers. Is that right? Bechtel had field engineers
go down and do their own inspection?

Mr. MACDONALD. Yes, we had field engineers do our own inspec-
tion. I also think, on the concrete testing, we would have had a
subcontractor perform the inspection.

Mr. LYNCH. Maybe you could explain that division of labor.
Mr. SIBLEY. Certainly. As John said, we have a field engineer

that is assigned to do the quality monitoring of that work. First
and foremost, the contractor has a quality control program. Their
engineer would identify the mixed designs that they are using,
would all be approved submittals before they start. They would do
a checklist that everything is ready, and they would submit that
to us for verification as part of the assurance step.

Our field engineer would perform those assurances, also sign off
on the checklist during the concrete placement. The project has a
certified laboratory. The laboratory has been certified in accordance
with ACI and the governing standards. We would have a person
come onsite, do in-place testing such as air content slump, that sort
of thing, do some monitoring of the actual placement, and then we
would break the cylinders, and so forth, to verify strength later.

So it was a double effort of assurance, with our field engineer at
the point of placement and with the laboratory checking the mate-
rials. The contractor is quality controlled, and they are actually
performing the placement and verifying they are doing it correctly.

Mr. LYNCH. OK. At some point—so that is—the concrete coming
out of the truck, if you are pouring it out of a truck, is inspected
by the contractor. You have somebody there that is going to the lab
and all of that.

But after the pour, maybe we could go to—just to kind of make
sure everybody is following along here—I think it is A1 or—I think
it is the first slide. This is the excavating machine for the slurry
wall, is that correct?

Mr. MACDONALD. Yes, sir, it is.
Mr. LYNCH. OK. And that clamshell bucket is digging that trench

in between the soldier piles, is that correct? Is that——
Mr. MACDONALD. The soldier piles are not installed at this—well,

I can’t tell if they are installed at this——
Mr. LYNCH. Yes, I can’t either, to tell you the truth.
Mr. MACDONALD. Yes.
Mr. LYNCH. In any event, after the pour, after the pour is com-

plete, and you wait a certain amount of time for the concrete to set
up, and then you begin excavation. Whose responsibility—was it
the contractor or was it Bechtel’s engineer—to go down and just in-
spect the face of the wall for any voids or inclusions or any defects
that were visible to the naked eye?

Obviously, somebody had to have the responsibility for going
down and checking the work after the excavation.

Mr. MACDONALD. First of all, the excavation takes place some
time later.

Mr. LYNCH. Right. Much later.

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00107 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



104

Mr. MACDONALD. So it is much later when that opportunity is
available to it. It is the contractor’s responsibility to check his own
work under the quality control process that is set up for the
project. It was our responsibility to assure that work by a layer of
auditing of the contractor’s process to make sure that he had ac-
complished that.

Mr. LYNCH. OK. So it was theirs initially, and then, if I am un-
derstanding correctly, you followup.

Mr. MACDONALD. Yes.
Mr. LYNCH. You assure that they have done that. OK. And my

concern is that, 5 years after they poured the section that we had
the breach in, for 5 years that wasn’t the—I mean, what is the date
on which that section of wall was excavated? That had to be 1999
or——

Mr. MACDONALD. If I may, I would like to turn that over to Keith
to answer. He is more fluent with the facts on the panel.

Mr. LYNCH. Sure.
Mr. SIBLEY. You are right with the date of the placement. The

excavation would have been in mid-2000. I don’t have those precise
dates. I would be happy to get a specific answer and provide that
for the record at a later time, but I don’t have the exact date when
that was excavated.

Mr. LYNCH. Yes, OK.
Mr. SIBLEY. It would have been done in stages. This is among the

very deepest part of the job. The particular excavation that Modern
conducted here was working north to south, and they worked to-
ward a bulkhead from the adjacent contractor to the south. This
would have been toward the end of their excavation.

Mr. LYNCH. OK.
Mr. SIBLEY. But I can get you that date.
Mr. LYNCH. I do have some notes here about—that the engineer’s

report indicated on April 2 that the slurry was deficient. Now, that
is not the concrete, but that the slurry was deficient and did not
meet standards, did not meet specs. But I assume that it was some
time after that you actually did excavation, so it was after April
2, 1999. Would that be——

Mr. MACDONALD. Yes, that is correct. The slurry report refers to
the—I believe it is the——

Mr. LYNCH. The pour date?
Mr. MACDONALD. It is before the pour date actually.
Mr. LYNCH. OK.
Mr. MACDONALD. Shortly before?
Mr. SIBLEY. Yes.
Mr. MACDONALD. Yes.
Mr. LYNCH. OK. That is fair enough. I just want to—you know,

what mystifies me is that it was somebody’s job to go down there
and inspect the face of that slurry wall, not just to walk by it but
to actually go down and inspect that, the entire length of that wall.

And, you know, we have a list now of 102 spots, 102 problem
areas on the slurry walls, and there are still 400 panels that have
yet to be inspected. And a considerable amount of time here—5
years went by—and if this hadn’t burst, this would all be buried,
if this panel hadn’t been burst. It just—it troubles me greatly, the
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lack of quality assurance and quality control on this project with
respect to these panels, I have to tell you.

And I am hearing that there are wet patches and there are inclu-
sions, and, you know, why don’t we—Leah, if you have a second,
I just want to run through—maybe we can dim the lights again.
These are some—well, actually, why don’t we go to—why don’t we
run through all of them.

There aren’t a whole lot of them, but I am just going to note
some of—now, the reason I included this is I understand this proc-
ess—this is—they are removing the panel so they can get at the
wall behind it, right? And this is—this is part of the repair project.
It looks like September 15, so this would have been the major
breach.

The cost must be prohibitive to keep removing those panels and
going back behind there. I don’t know if something can be done to
reduce the cost of these continual repairs that we are doing in
these areas, but it is something you ought to think about.

All right. Next slide. Again, that is the waterfall. That is—we
have seen that already.

Go ahead. Next, please. This is another shot of the same breach
that occurred on September 15.

We can go to the next one, please. I was a little surprised at this.
This is apparently the method, the temporary patch that was used.
I understand it is just temporary, so I guess I am not as concerned.
But driving oak wedges in there to try to stop this.

Go to the next—there is another shot of the oak wedges they are
using to stop the flow of water. You know, it just appears to be a
Mickey Mouse situation. I don’t know, guys.

But go ahead. Go with the next one. This is, again, I guess there
is some grouting going along in the area as well as the oak patch,
the oak plug, rather.

Please, again, Leah. And I understand that this is, again, a tem-
porary patch. That shows the metal plate going on over the wooden
form there, which I guess is bolted to the soldier pile. But, again,
I guess I am not as concerned now that I know it is just a tem-
porary patch, and something more permanent is going to be put in
place.

The next one, please, Leah. And this just shows that—let us see,
this is September 21, so this is a week later. This is the patch that
they just put on, and there is a stream of water, and it looks like
maybe some of the—some of the grouting is actually coming back
out.

Next one, please. This is a void at the base of a soldier pile. It,
you know, could create tremendous problems.

Next one, please. These are all different areas here. As I am told,
that is actually a hammer that—in the middle of the picture there,
there is a hammer that fell down into the pour. And there is a
huge void at the bottom, and they explained to me that the void
is filled with paste and soil that was still soft when probed to 16
inches. So these are—these are deep and significant inclusions and
voids within the slurry wall.

Next one, please, Leah. This is a—there is not—that is actually
just to demonstrate. That is a trowel that was placed in the wall
just to show how soft the material was. This is a clay inclusion in

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00109 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



106

the—clay and soil inclusion of unsound material, and it states that
a 6-inch tool can be inserted to its full depth. So that concerns me
greatly.

Next one, please. This is all exposed rebar along the slurry wall.
No coverage there. This must be the area around the Federal Re-
serve Bank. As I understand, that is the only area that has rebar
in it. But, again, there is no coverage. It is exposed to water, and
it concerns me as well.

Next one, please, Leah. Now, this is the roof joint. This is one
of the roof joints. Mike Capuano and I actually last February did
the walkthrough there, and we saw the work going on. But I have
to tell you, and I know you are going to say that, you know, we
haven’t buttoned it all up yet, but in the meantime, you know, we
already have the oxidization of a lot of these structure members,
and I am just very concerned about it.

Next one, please, Leah. That is the last one.
I just want to read to you. This is contract language for the I–

93 mainline tunnel. And it states that—this is a technical spec re-
lating to water tightness of slurry walls. It states that, ‘‘Slurry
walls shall be watertight, defined as free of all seeping water leaks.
Moist patches shall be considered acceptable for slurry wall con-
struction.’’

‘‘B) Repair of leaks shall be in accordance with Section 727.915,
which says that simple surface patching, or shallow injection, shall
not be allowed.’’ And the contractor—this is what gets me. It says,
‘‘The contractor shall inspect for water tightness of all slurry walls
on a monthly basis, starting within 2 weeks after the first exposure
of the wall panels during excavation.’’

This is what brings me back to April 2 or some time in 1999,
some time thereafter. And starting within 2 weeks—so it will be on
a monthly basis, starting within 2 weeks and continuing until final
acceptance. The inspection reports shall be submitted to the engi-
neer—I assume that is Bechtel—within 1 week following inspec-
tion.

So it is not that we missed a couple of opportunities to pick this
up. It is—you know, if you—if it should be monthly for 5 years, we
missed 60 opportunities—60 opportunities to pick this up under
quality control and quality assurance. And that troubles me great-
ly. Somebody just mailed it in on this. No one was out there pro-
tecting the taxpayers’ interest.

Mr. Tamaro.
Mr. TAMARO. Yes, sir.
Mr. LYNCH. Could you tell me, now, I was an iron worker for

about 20 years, did some heavy highway work and bridges, and all
of that. But you are a lot smarter than I am; I promise you.

The level of water tightness—now, first of all, this tunnel, what
did we buy here in terms of the U.S. taxpayer and the Massachu-
setts taxpayer? How long is this tunnel supposed to be in service?
What is a reasonable expectation?

Mr. TAMARO. It should last 70 to 100 years. It shouldn’t be a
problem.

Mr. LYNCH. OK.
Mr. TAMARO. With regard to the water tightness, I would like to

just kind of bifurcate the question.
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Mr. LYNCH. Sure.
Mr. TAMARO. There are two elements in the water tightness. One

is the wall itself, and it has been my experience that you can get
these slurry walls very watertight except for occasional flaws. And
then, during construction, once they are exposed, you go back and
you fix the flaws. Once they are fixed, they should not have run-
ning water down the face of the wall. That has been my experience
on most of the walls I have worked on.

Mr. LYNCH. And if I could ask you, the fact that these are 42
inches thick, that is a fairly thick slurry wall in my estimation. I
don’t know, maybe that is—maybe you are used to that, but 42
inches of concrete would seem to be fairly impervious to water
seepage.

Mr. TAMARO. It is more a matter of the installation procedure
rather than the thickness. A very thin, properly executed wall can
be more watertight than a thicker wall that has not been done with
the same level of care. So the thickness is kind of irrelevant. The
concrete is usually, if it is put in correctly, it is water tight. And
it is only the jointing and the construction aspects of it that can
really create the leak.

Mr. LYNCH. Well, based on the spec I just read, do you believe
that these specs have been met on this project based on what you
have seen down there?

Mr. TAMARO. The panel E–045 is a clear example that it did not
meet that specification.

Mr. LYNCH. And what about all of the others where there is
water coming through and voids and——

Mr. TAMARO. Panels that contain inclusions of material, soil-like
material or defective concrete, are just not acceptable. They do not
meet the specification.

Mr. LYNCH. OK. Let me ask you about—now, if you say the rea-
sonable expectations of a life span for this tunnel is 75 to 100
years. What effect does continual play of water on the structural
members, whether it be seeping through the slurry walls and, act-
ing on soldier piles or inducing some type of breach because of the
inclusion in the wall, or the roof joint that you mentioned could be
a lifelong problem in this tunnel, what does that have—what effect
does that water play on these structural members have on the
overall life of the tunnel that we bought?

Mr. TAMARO. That was kind of why I bifurcated the question.
The slurry wall concrete itself should not be significantly affected
by seepage. The loss of soil from behind the wall can be a problem,
but the concrete itself should not be deteriorated if it is there and
it is sound.

The steel beams should not be affected by corrosion. The slurry
wall soldier beam should not be affected by corrosion as long as—
the majority of them is buried in the concrete or outside, so, there-
fore, it is not exposed to oxygen. The inside face could corrode, and
I have seen most of these eventually stabilize themselves with a lit-
tle bit of build up of rust, and you don’t have a major corrosion
problem with the soldier beams.

The real concern is the roof connection where your whole street
structure is resting on that connection, and that connection is ex-
posed to water that is seeping in through the roof wall joint. And
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that is the critical element. It is not an immediate problem; it re-
quires resolution.

Mr. LYNCH. OK. All right. Thank you. I want to turn it over to
Congressman Capuano for a while.

Mr. CAPUANO. Thanks, Mr. Lynch.
Mr. MacDonald, you had both written and oral testimony. In the

written testimony—if I remember correctly, it was on page 11—
there was something along the lines of—you are talking about the
wall panel repairs, and there is a written statement here that they
will all be repaired at no cost to the public or to the project. Do
you stand by that written comment?

Mr. MACDONALD. I stand by that statement. Yes, I do.
Mr. CAPUANO. OK. And during your oral testimony, if I heard

you right, and I would like to clarify it, I believe I heard you say,
in talking about the—because, again, we have two different types
of leaks. In your written testimony, I don’t recall that you ad-
dressed the roof and wall joints, but I believe I—and, again, correct
me if I am wrong—I thought I heard you in your oral testimony
say that when it came to the grouting program there will be no cost
to the taxpayers. Did I hear you correctly?

Mr. MACDONALD. Yes. Yes. I think the grouting—the grouting of
the roof is—we are still in construction. We are not done. And
when we are done, we firmly believe that we are going to meet the
specifications for this—for the roof wall joint. We believe it is the
responsibility of the contractors to achieve that under the specifica-
tions that are in there.

And if I may just comment on the picture that you showed of
that joint—and I fully agree with Mr. Tamaro that it is critical that
we don’t get corrosion in there, and we are not seeing signs of any
significant corrosion in these girder beams that you see in the roof
base. What you saw in that photo was algae. It wasn’t rust. So I
just want to be clear about that.

Mr. CAPUANO. Mr. MacDonald, your company—both the compa-
nies have been involved with the construction, I am sure, of many
tunnels of different types and different locations and different
depths, and all around the world is my estimation. Have you ever
been involved with a tunnnel that didn’t have leaks?

Mr. MACDONALD. No, sir. All tunnels leak.
Mr. CAPUANO. Mr. Tamaro, have you ever been involved with a

tunnel or any other similar aspect that doesn’t have leaks?
Mr. TAMARO. I have been involved with tunnels that do have

leaks, and they are processed for collecting water.
Mr. CAPUANO. But have you ever had any one that doesn’t have

a leak?
Mr. TAMARO. Yes. Yes.
Mr. CAPUANO. One that is below the water table?
Mr. TAMARO. Yes.
Mr. CAPUANO. Where was that?
Mr. TAMARO. Puerto Rico, the Minnia Tunnel.
Mr. CAPUANO. And there is no leaks in that tunnel today?
Mr. TAMARO. There are no leaks in the tunnel.
Mr. CAPUANO. Good.
Mr. TAMARO. To my knowledge.
Mr. CAPUANO. To my knowledge?
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Mr. TAMARO. To the last of my knowledge.
Mr. CAPUANO. All right. Fair answer, because I was under the

impression that there were no tunnels anywhere that don’t have
leaks. But that is a very interesting comment, because I will go
check that now, just because you have piqued my interest. That is
good to me. I mean, that changes some of my opinions of tunnel
construction.

I guess I am going to ask all of you the same question I have
asked before, and I think most of you have addressed it, but I am
going to ask it again, nonetheless, to be clear. To the best of your
knowledge as of today, is the tunnel, all of the tunnels, are they
safe? And to the best of your knowledge today, is there any reason
not to believe that they will not continue to be safe in the future
on the presumption that they get ordinary and adequate mainte-
nance programs. Mr. Amorello.

Mr. AMORELLO. Yes, and no to the second question.
Mr. CAPUANO. Mr. MacDonald.
Mr. MACDONALD. Yes, the tunnels are safe. The tunnels will con-

tinue to be safe long into the next century.
Mr. CAPUANO. OK. Mr. Tamaro, I know that you have said ear-

lier that you haven’t been involved with the tunnel directly for the
last several months. But as of the last time you knew it, was there
any reason to think that the tunnel wasn’t safe then?

Mr. TAMARO. I found nothing that would make me say that it
was unsafe.

Mr. CAPUANO. Fine. Thank you.
Mr. Amorello, Mr. Mead, who was up earlier—I know that you

are working with Mr. Gee and others relative to putting the tun-
nels under a new comparable program to the bridge inspection pro-
gram.

Mr. Gee was very clear, which I knew before, but he said it—
publicly stated it here that your agency has been very cooperative
in trying to come up—since you will be the first tunnel in the his-
tory of the country, if I understand it correctly, to subject itself to
this kind of inspection process, you are breaking new ground, and
he suggests that you are being very cooperative in that. And I con-
gratulate you for that, and I hope you have great success and lead
the way for the rest of the country to follow.

But Mr. Mead here also suggested, with some of the questions
that are involved relative to the inspections of these panels, he
clearly suggested that each and every one of these panels be sub-
jected to a full inspection. I think Mr. Lynch asked earlier—and I
am no—I have no clue what is involved with inspecting these, but
Mr. Lynch suggested—and I am sure he is right—that there is vis-
ual inspection, there is hand inspection, there is sonar inspection,
there is—I am sure there is all kinds of methods that I have no
clue what they are all about.

But Mr. Mead was very clear in stating that he believes that
each and every one of these sections should be inspected to the best
of our technical ability. First of all, do you agree with him? And,
second of all, if you do, is that our plan to get this done?

Mr. AMORELLO. I think the inspection process that had been put
in place after the September 15 breach is addressing each and
every panel and identifying it to date. To correct the record, there
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were seven found yesterday, so it is 109 panels that are defective
in some fashion. Again, only two with a major defect is similar to
the September 15, including the September 15 breach.

If I may, I would like to defer that both to Mr. Sibley from Bech-
tel and to Mr. Lewis from the project, in terms of how these inspec-
tions take place. And then, if I might, Mike Swanson who is here
is the chief engineer for the department—for the Authority working
on the protocol for the future inspections. I think it goes to——

Mr. CAPUANO. Fair enough. But I want to make it clear—I am
not an engineer, I don’t want to be an engineer, so speak English.

Mr. AMORELLO. Let me—if it is—Mr. Sibley and then Mr. Lewis,
but the inspections that are ongoing now and how it—how that is
occurring, and then Mr. Swanson, who is looking at the protocol—
and I think Congressman Lynch, anticipating his questions on war-
ranties and how we go out into the future—some of the costs that
we have budgeted, one of the questions by—that was asked of the
earlier panel, the budget for the operation of a metropolitan high-
way system—that is everything inside of 128, the I–93 tunnel sys-
tem, the Logan connection, some—the Viaduct south of the city, the
Zacamb Bridge, the Kana tunnels, is $76 million; $25 million of
that is O&M costs associated with just the Interstate 93 tunnels.

And at some point, when the questions get to that stage, if Mr.
Swanson could talk about how we anticipate the inspections, the
cost of the inspections that we built into our budget anyway, the
logic in the 1997 legislation turning the project from the State
Highway Department—I wish Chairman Davis was here. Taking
the project from the State Highway Department, transferring it to
the Turnpike Authority, was because of our expertise in tunnel
management and the fact that we have resources to maintain these
tunnels. Having that, that is why we are the authority charged
with——

Mr. CAPUANO. Fair enough. But I want to make it clear, I just
asked basically what time it is. I really am not interested, because
I am not qualified to know how the watch is made. You know, I
mean, so I just really want to make it as simple as you can. All
the technical stuff, talk to Mr. Mead. But the simple stuff, I am
happy to listen to, but I want to make that clear.

Mr. SIBLEY. Simply, the investigations we are conducting since
the September breach are twofold. One is we have been going
through the documentation. When we went back and looked at the
history of the panel in question, as John identified earlier, there
are irregularities in the documentation of that panel.

So we did a search through all of our field records for all of the
panels to see if there were other strings of documentation that
would indicate troubles, and we put those on a specific list of pan-
els to take a close look at.

Second, then, we have identified—or we have been initiated a
100 percent inspection of all panels. There is a section where the
wall is readily accessible above the tile panels that were in some
of the photographs. The stainless steel grills are up there. We can
look through those grills and remove some of those grills, and do
a 100 percent inspection of all panels.

We are looking for any indications that may need further follow-
up. The team identifies those indications, and then we take a sen-
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ior engineer out, we remove more of the steel in the area, make a
thorough investigation. If it appears to be something worthy of fol-
lowup, we actually take the tile panel off and do a complete review
of that panel.

The photographs that Congressman Lynch went through come
right out of our reports. Those are panels that the investigation has
located. Most of these more serious issues are in areas that are
fairly deep in the project. Both of those areas, incidentally, are in
areas where there was dewatering surrounding it during construc-
tion. We are now getting full water tables back, so now we have
a better chance to see some of these issues where water is coming
through.

So it is a two step—documentation, check those specifically, vis-
ual everything, followup indications, go progressively forward. It is
a conservative review.

Mr. CAPUANO. Since Mr. Mead is still here—Mr. Mead, I
wouldn’t want to call you back, because I know you have had a
long day already. At some point, I would hope that we could get
some answers, so maybe at a later point, to tell me whether what
you just heard and what you may find out in the future satisfies
the suggestion you made, because, for me, though I love you guys
dearly, the only guy I really care about is Mr. Mead, because he
has no vested interest whatsoever in the answer, and he is the guy,
as far as I am concerned, that has to be satisfied.

And, again, what you just said sounds fine to me. But I haven’t
got a clue. And so I appreciate the answer, and I appreciate the
brevity, the clarity, the simplicity, but I would still hope that at
some point you have a lengthy discussion with Mr. Mead and his
office, so that he can be satisfied. Or, if not, to notify us that you
are not satisfied.

I guess for me—you know, I have heard a lot about slurry walls.
I am not a contractor. I am not a construction guy. I haven’t had
the experience of Mr. Lynch. They get a little complicated to me.
And, you know, I mean, I think I understand it. I am not sure. It
sounds—you guys have made it relatively simple, I think, but I al-
ways try to bring things back to what I understand.

One of the things I understand is basic construction, not a lot,
but a little bit. And, you know, we have two kinds of leaks. You
know, you have a hole in the wall, that is a problem, you have ac-
cepted it, you are fixing it. Whether it is temporary—I will be hon-
est, I was a little concerned myself when I saw that the way to fix
a temporary leak is exactly what I would have done, is basically
you stuck a cork in it. [Laughter.]

But I guess I will trust you, because I drive through the tunnel
and I go by that cork, so I hope it holds. And I also understand
that there is some discussion now as to how to make that perma-
nent, and I respect that and I will leave that alone.

But there is also leaks at the top, and I have been educated as
to how all of this has happened and how you couldn’t do it—a dif-
ferent kind of roof because of the width limitations on the build-
ings, and the like, and that you had to do a roof basically that, in
my mind, is almost inevitable to have leaks.

My house has an overhang. Every house in New England that is
wisely built has an angled, steeped roof. Nobody in their right mind
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in New England has a flat roof. There are some, but those are the
people that I think less of than others. [Laughter.]

There is a reason for that. We want rain, we want snow to get
off and go away, and I understand that. I also understand that you
couldn’t do some of these things, and so within the limits you had
to come up with a system.

But I have asked, and the Authority has granted me—I have it
here, and I have the prop, and all of that—but basically asked,
well, what is on the top of this roof? Where is this water coming
from? Not so much the slurry walls. I am talking about the so-
called low-level leaks, because those are the ones that strike me as
a bigger concern.

I mean, you are going to have holes in the walls, you are going
to fix them, and that is not—everybody—I have heard everybody
say that is not acceptable, and it is going to get fixed. But there
is going to be a question on the roof. And the reason I say this is
because, when I was mayor, we built several schools. Every one we
built we had to fight with the contractors about what was on the
roof—how thick the rubber was, whether the rocks were this,
whether this was this, how the drain—every single roof there was
an argument.

So I asked about roofs, and I got a nice little thin piece of basic
rubber here that is this thick that I am told is sitting on top of the
cement roof. OK. That sounds neat, except, I have to tell you, this
thing is pretty flimsy. It doesn’t strike me that this is even com-
parable to the roof that is sitting on my house.

So I have to ask: is this sufficient? Is this normal? Is this what
you have used in other tunnels? And if not, why do we get this?

Mr. Amorello, I guess I will start with you.
Mr. AMORELLO. Let me—again, these were decisions made in the

waterproofing, if I can defer to Bechtel, we will respond to that
question.

Mr. MACDONALD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Before I ask Keith
to comment on the detail of it, the roof system was the subject of
a thorough review back in 1990. The systems were evaluated with
a lot of input from ourselves, section design consultants, the suppli-
ers of materials that went into the specifications.

There was a thorough review of these processes initiated in 1997
when there were some challenges in getting the construction satis-
factory during the installation of the roof membranes.

So with that said, Keith, maybe you could fill us in on more de-
tails.

Mr. SIBLEY. I am very tempted to talk about the thing you had
in your hand or the polyuria sprays or the preapproved 300’s, but
I recognize your watch analogy, so we will start with——

Mr. CAPUANO. Thank you.
Mr. SIBLEY [continuing]. With waterproofing functions essentially

as a liner. The concrete roof is placed on the steel roof girders that
have been talked about. The roof, before we backfill with the mate-
rial, then it goes up to the surface, sometimes 4 feet thick, some-
times 40 feet thick. We put down this liner. It is loosely called wa-
terproofing.

We did have a wide variety of waterproofing materials in our
early specification. It is a performance specification. The supplier
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is chosen by the contractor. They are to make sure the supplier re-
views the geometry of the tunnel, how deep it is, what kind of
water is in the area, the water chemistry, the details of the con-
struction, and come up with a material that they will certify will
perform in a waterproofing function at that location at that depth.

In the 1997 task force, we were recognizing that some of these
materials apparently weren’t robust enough, or had sufficient in-
stallation problems that we were having to review a lot of leaks
and waterproofing issues. We were concerned about the continued
use of those materials.

Initially, to restrict the marketplace, was not well received, but
this combined task force involving State authorities, Federal High-
way, some experts, and ourselves, we wound up eliminating a few
materials.

Mr. CAPUANO. Is this the Waterproofing Task Force or the Leak
Task Force?

Mr. SIBLEY. This is Waterproofing. We are selecting
waterproofing——

Mr. CAPUANO. So before leaks.
Mr. SIBLEY [continuing]. Materials. Correct. And we limited the

number, then, of materials that were allowed to be considered
under this performance specification. The details and requirements
of the spec remain the same. The contractor chooses the material.

The manufacturer is required to have a rep onsite while it start-
ed to train the people, test certified installers, and basically to as-
sure that the materials such as the one you had in your hand will
function at the depth and locations called for in the tunnel.

Mr. CAPUANO. OK. Am I right to understand that this has a 5-
year warranty? Do you know?

Mr. SIBLEY. I don’t know, but——
Mr. CAPUANO. OK. Let us——
Mr. SIBLEY [continuing]. I can check that for you.
Mr. CAPUANO. I am pretty sure I am right. It is a 5-year war-

ranty. My roof has a 20-year warranty. Why does this only have
a 5-year warranty? And let us assume everything is done perfectly.
I have to replace my roof every 20 years, because it leaks. Material
gets old.

Let us presume everything is done well. Six years from now the
warranty is gone. I won’t even ask the question what happens
within the warranty; I don’t know how you replace it. Six years
from now, this is done, the warranty is done, and you have another
71 to 94 years left. How do you fix it?

Mr. SIBLEY. Morris, do you want to take a stab at that one?
Mr. LEVY. Well, I think there is a slight difference between the

house and the underground tunnel.
Mr. CAPUANO. I hope so.
Mr. LEVY. Yes. I mean, the material in a house is subject to a

lot of the variations in the temperatures, the variations in rainfall,
ice, and so forth. The material that you have underground, it would
not be subject to this. It is just staying there, and there is no
change to it.

Mr. CAPUANO. So, then, theoretically they should be able to war-
rant it for 100 years.

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00117 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



114

Mr. LEVY. Well, as we said, it should stay for that long, but I am
not sure about the warranty——

Mr. CAPUANO. Do you mean even the material?
Mr. LEVY. I am not sure about the warranty of this particular

material, and Keith would be——
Mr. CAPUANO. Well, I am pretty sure it is 5 years. I mean, that

is fair enough. Again, I guess I will leave it to people who under-
stand construction better than I. I have kind of gone to the limits
of my understanding.

But I will tell you that it raises concerns for me, not because—
I understand the engineering problems about you couldn’t get
wider things, you couldn’t extend the roof in a different way. I
know—I understand that, it makes sense, that is life. But I have
to tell you, forgetting everything else, whoever picked this—and,
again, not being a contractor it raises questions to me.

I guess relative to the—who is going to be responsible for what—
and, again, I am just continuing on the roofing analogy. Let us pre-
sume everything seems to be done well. To get to this—just this,
and get it on the roof, somebody has to design the tunnel. Some-
body has to draft the specs for the material that goes in the tunnel.

Somebody has to select the contractors, choose the process,
choose the material, choose the supplier, prepare the surface be-
cause, as I understand it you, can’t just throw this on a piece of
cement, you have to prep it and all that kind of stuff, select the
adhesive, and then apply the material.

If I have those right, and if I haven’t missed anything, you have
an architect who designs it, a general contractor, at least one sub-
contractor, maybe several subcontractors, the material supplier
himself, the manufacturer of the material, the manufacturer of the
adhesive. Then, you have quality control, quality assurance, and
then you have the Turnpike Authority themselves.

Maybe I am counting it wrong. Maybe I am missing something.
But just to get this on, you have eight potential parties who have
responsibility to get that done. Sometimes I am sure some of those
would be the same people, so maybe it is a little bit less than eight,
how are we going to determine who is responsible? And the reason
I ask this is because, very carefully worded, wisely carefully word-
ed, that Bechtel/Parsons Brinckerhoff will accept your fair share of
responsibility, and because—and, again, correct me if I am wrong—
all I am aware of is a $50 million performance bond, or whatever
the term might be—insurance.

Are we going to have to hold everybody liable, all down the line?
Or is that your job?

Mr. MACDONALD. The liability flows primarily two places. It
flows to the contractor, and many of those parties that you de-
scribed are subcontractors to that contractor. And some of it would
potentially flow to us. Correct me if I am wrong on this, Morris,
but I don’t think the section design consultants, for the most part,
are involved in this.

Mr. LEVY. Not in the choice of the roofing material. But, Con-
gressman, I think until today—I am not sure that the water is
coming from the roof. In other words, there is water at the joints,
and it could well be that the roofing—that the waterproofing is still
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intact, and that the water is coming through the concrete, because
the concrete goes up the sides.

Mr. CAPUANO. But as I understood the way this was supposed to
be applied, it is supposed to be applied, what, up a foot——

Mr. LEVY. That is correct.
Mr. CAPUANO [continuing]. On the soldiers. And, therefore, there

shouldn’t be any water.
Mr. LEVY. The outside wall of concrete is exposed to the water.

The top of the wall is exposed to the water. And the water is com-
ing through the concrete from the top or from the side, instead of—
that is why we are grouting. We are not grouting the waterproof-
ing. We are grouting the——

Mr. CAPUANO. Well, one of the reasons I picked this, because,
again, it is simple for me—and, you know, you get into slurry
walls, but the same issue applies to slurry walls. I mean, you don’t
just have one guy come in and drop a slurry wall in. Somebody has
to design it, somebody has go to do this, somebody has to pick the
slurry.

I mean, I understand there are different kinds of slurries. You
have to pick which one you have to do, you have to have it in-
spected, you have 8, 10, 9, 12 people or entities that are responsible
for any aspect, not just this. Same thing with the intelligent trans-
portation system, same thing with the concrete selection, same
thing with every aspect of it. This was just a simple one to me, be-
cause it makes sense, something I understand.

And I guess for me, I go through all of this to make sure that
I am not on the wrong track, that the liability for all of these
issues, regardless of how they are repaired in the future, the liabil-
ity is going to be a long-term discussion, unless what you have
said, Mr. MacDonald, is—turns out to be accurate, that you will
stand up and accept your responsibility, whatever that may be.

And I take you at your word, but I also understand that when
the time comes this is still going to happen. And when it happens,
my hope is that each and every one of these people who is on this
list is going to be held responsible for their aspect of it, and that
includes you.

Mr. MACDONALD. Congressman, let me respond by again saying,
yes, we will step up to our obligations under our contract. Abso-
lutely. The situation that you described is normal. A contractor,
section design consultants, a management consultant, those are the
three principal parties involved in this conversation, so it is sort of
a normal circumstance.

The disputes are, unfortunately, a normal circumstance in this
environment. I, frankly, believe that the issues that you are con-
cerned about will show themselves in the near future. I don’t think
it is going to take years to discover potential issues that are subject
to cost recovery or subject to back charges against contractors. For
the most part, we are going to know that in the near future.

I think there is a robust process in place now under the attorney
general’s purview. We are committed to work through that process.
It is a process that has the attributes that we have long sought.
It is one voice on behalf of the Commonwealth, the legislature, the
administration, MHD, MTA, a fact-based process. So we will fully
engage in that process.
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Mr. CAPUANO. Well, I am going to end with one last thing. As
I understand it—and correct me if I am wrong—there is currently
a lawsuit pending relative to notification from 1994 on some issues
relative to the tunnel that—it is kind of interesting.

Even in your written testimony, you suggest that, in 1994, Bech-
tel/Parsons Brinckerhoff was under a contractual constraint basi-
cally to lie relative to the cost of the tunnel. That is what your
written testimony says, that you couldn’t have public com-
mentary—well, I can read it to you.

Mr. MACDONALD. Well, our testimony said that we had an obli-
gation to tell our customer what we knew.

Mr. CAPUANO. Right.
Mr. MACDONALD. And we did that.
Mr. CAPUANO. Maybe you shouldn’t lie. You are right. I should

correct myself that you were constrained to not correct a lie pub-
licly given, repeatedly given, by your employer—namely, the Turn-
pike Authority, not Mr. Amorello, but one of his predecessors.

The contract prohibited Bechtel/Parsons Brinckerhoff from mak-
ing any unauthorized statements, and that is relating to an earlier
statement—in 1994, you provided the Governor and State officials
with total cost estimates of almost $14 billion. I have to tell you,
if I were a prosecutor, I would not let you off the hook because you
had a contract that basically said you had to let a lie happen. Dif-
ferent issue; others will decide that.

But as I understand it—am I wrong to think that there is a law-
suit pending relative to whether you did or did not inform State of-
ficials on these issues?

Mr. MACDONALD. There is a lawsuit pending on that matter.
Again, I don’t think your characterization of this thing is accurate.
I don’t think that is what the contract says or that is what we did.
We went through that process in 1994. We continued to give our
best advice to the Turnpike Authority throughout that period of
time.

Mr. AMORELLO. Could I just interject that in 1994 the State
Highway Department, then the Department of Public Works, was
in charge of the project, not the Turnpike Authority.

Mr. CAPUANO. Either way, it wasn’t you. [Laughter.]
Mr. AMORELLO. No. Just in terms of clarification.
Mr. CAPUANO. Well, I respect that, Mr. MacDonald, but I would

suggest—I will tell you that as—well, as a non-practicing attorney
now, that if I were advising you, and I—you had a client who was
telling you, ‘‘Look, we know we are 40 percent—minimum 40 per-
cent over budget,’’ and you know it, and your client—in this case
the State Highway Department—is telling you to shut up, my ad-
vice to you would have been to walk, because you can see—you can
feel the anchor coming around your neck.

Guess what? Here it is. Your client, based on your—again, I am
not going to—I don’t know what the truth is, but based on your
written testimony, you knew then that your client, the Highway
Department, was perpetrating a public lie and, one, they violated
FCC regulations, never mind anything else, that you knew was
wrong.

And I think by doing that, even presuming that what you say is
true, you told the Governor and you told the State officials, I still
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think you have some liability issues on that, because you should
have walked. You should have walked, knowing that your client
then was engaged in something immoral at the very least, unethi-
cal, clearly, and probably illegal.

Thank you, Mr. MacDonald.
Mr. LYNCH. OK. Thank you.
Mr. Tamaro, I want to go back to you for a second. How do I de-

termine what—the normal amount of water that we should expect
in this tunnel upon completion?

Mr. TAMARO. As far as the slurry walls themselves are con-
cerned, you should have no water. You should not have running
water. There will be an occasional seep that requires repair.

Mr. LYNCH. All right.
Mr. TAMARO. The roof joint appears to me beyond what you

would normally expect. I am going to go a little beyond perhaps
where I should with a comment with regard to the membrane.
From what I have seen of the roof, up between the girders, I think
the membrane is performing on the flat, and the problem is exclu-
sive to the turn of the wall and the wall contact.

I would suspect that the membrane will last the life of the struc-
ture because of its being protected. I assume, and I don’t know if
you have the proper protection boards and the like, as long as it
didn’t get punctured by whomever was walking around on top, the
membrane on the horizontal should be satisfactory. It is that joint
detail and turning up the wall that is really the culprit in this
problem. And the question is: how does that get resolved at this
point?

Mr. LYNCH. OK. Let us see. Why don’t we talk for a moment
about what you described, Mr. MacDonald, as being fairly normal.
In Attorney General Reilly’s testimony, he indicated there were 134
issues outstanding for claims against the project and a total of
$400 million in claims.

Now, I understand that there is always that back and forth, and
there are claims. But at this late stage of the process and the
project, is that something that is normal, where a lot of contractors
have completed their responsibilities and are no longer on the
project and have been paid and now are going—we are trying to
resolve these things and doing cost recovery on top of that?

Mr. MACDONALD. I would like to separate it a little bit. If I un-
derstood the attorney general correctly, he indicated there was 134
items for cost recovery. To me, that would translate into issues that
are potentially at our doorstep or at the doorstep of the section de-
sign consultants.

With respect to the $400 million in claims from construction con-
tractors, this is the pending amount of claims from the contractors
for their construction work, some that have finished and some that
are still ongoing, that is going through a claims resolution process,
a process which is directly managed by the MTA.

I am not aware that—of anyone who has been paid in advance
of getting an agreement. So I think there is a little
miscommunication there about paying contractors for claims.

So this is a significant amount of money. The fact that we have
some disputes and this project has had a long—a fairly long history
of disputes with the construction contractors, I think is—you know,
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is kind of within the normal expectation, maybe a little more than
we would like to see. We would like to get it—we would like to get
it resolved as quickly as possible, so it is not around for a long time
to come.

Mr. LYNCH. OK. Mr. Tamaro, now I remember what the question
was I wanted to ask you. The idea that we have this slurry wall
that is 42 inches thick, and normally—well, let me put it this way.
Along the stretch of the—of the Artery Tunnel in front of the Fed-
eral Reserve Bank, apparently the engineer that was—or the engi-
neer representative for the Federal Reserve Bank required that re-
inforcing steel be put—maintained in the slurry wall along that
stretch in front of the Federal Reserve Bank. Am I correct on that?

Keith Sibley, how about you?
Mr. SIBLEY. Originally, several of the slurry walls were prelimi-

nary designed with reinforcing steel in them. As the final dimen-
sions—a real driving dimensional item here is the soldier pile. It
is 3 feet. When you add the cover, you get a 31⁄2 foot wall. That
wall thickness is not really required for the soil and water to be
held back, but that is what is required to swallow the pile that is
inserted in the trench as we build these walls and then carry the
roof loads.

Once we had that much design in place, we realized that we did
not need to reinforce the walls in many locations. Two locations we
do have the walls reinforced. It is along the side of one financial,
and it is along the side of the Federal Reserve Bank.

Those are adjacent to critical buildings. We did review this infor-
mation with their consultants, and they preferred we remain with
a conservative design to keep that reinforcing steel. We had it
there. They preferred we not take it out when we realized we didn’t
need it in many other areas. They didn’t require that we put it
there, but they preferred we not take it out.

Mr. LYNCH. How much of the rest of the—apart from those two
spots—one financial and the Federal Reserve Bank—how much of
the remainder of the Artery Project had preliminary rebar design?

Mr. SIBLEY. Actually, I do not know the answer to that——
Mr. LYNCH. Take a stab.
Mr. SIBLEY [continuing]. From the study——
Mr. LANCELLOTTI. We pretty much wanted the original standard

to have the walls reinforced as——
Mr. LYNCH. OK. So it was the norm.
Mr. LANCELLOTTI. The norm.
Mr. LYNCH. The norm in the preliminary design was to have

rebar in the slurry walls.
Mr. LANCELLOTTI. I can’t say whether it was the preliminary de-

sign or the conceptual design. But in the early stages of the project,
that is the standard we were discussing. As Keith pointed out,
later on we backed off of that, and only required that——

Mr. LYNCH. Can you move up to that mic, sir. All right. Let us
take that from the top again, please.

Mr. LANCELLOTTI. During the early stages of the project, we did
have, as our concept, reinforced slurry walls. Later on, as Keith
pointed out, as we went into more of the analysis and the design,
we determined that it was not needed in all locations. We kept it
in certain locations.
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I think there are a couple of isolated cases beyond Federal Re-
serve Bank where either we had an air rights issue or a heavy load
issue where we kept the reinforcing in. But generally, we took it
out because the analysis and design showed it was not necessary.

Mr. LYNCH. Now, let me see if I understand you correctly. Be-
cause the walls were so thick, you didn’t think you needed reinforc-
ing steel?

Mr. LANCELLOTTI. Correct. Based on the loads that they would
absorb or would be imposed on the wall, it was not necessary. That
is correct.

Mr. LYNCH. OK. Now, as I understand it, concrete is great under
a compressive load, but the steel is added because of, you know, a
moment or a lateral load. In this case, it would be from the soil
and the water on the side of the panel. Is that correct?

Mr. LANCELLOTTI. That is very—you are a good engineer. That
is absolutely correct. It is usually from tension, either from mo-
ment—primarily from moment. It is primarily from moment or
bending.

Mr. LYNCH. So it wouldn’t be the case where if we had left the
steel in, if we had left the steel in—in the slurry walls—and I am
not sure if there was a whole lot of steel in here in terms of, you
know, the size of these panels. But if you had left the reinforcing
rods in the thing as originally designed, we might not be—we
might not have had that blowout problem for one.

Mr. LANCELLOTTI. Actually, that panel has reinforcing steel in it.
Mr. LYNCH. Well, it was placed properly, is what I am saying.
Mr. LANCELLOTTI. And it still blew out, so I would not say it is

related to the reinforcing steel.
Mr. LYNCH. Yes. Now, was this a cost-saving measure, to pull the

steel out?
Mr. LANCELLOTTI. That is correct. It was part of a cost contain-

ment initiative; that is correct.
Mr. LYNCH. OK. But you left it in for the Federal Reserve

and——
Mr. LANCELLOTTI. And some other isolated areas where the

stresses warranted.
Mr. LYNCH. OK. Let us just go—I want to compare these two

pieces, because I think it is important. Mr. Tamaro, given the dy-
namic here with this 31⁄2 foot wall, what is the impact on a lateral
load like we were just talking about, with no rebar in there and—
but say there is a substantial inclusion of soil or clay or a hammer
or brick or just a complete void within that panel, what does that
do to the structural integrity of that panel?

Mr. TAMARO. It diminishes the integrity. What happens is that
the reinforcing goes in sort of as a grid.

Mr. LYNCH. Right.
Mr. TAMARO. And if there is a void, a hole, a defect, there are

alternative paths around the defect. And in the case of this particu-
lar panel, there is concrete missing for a significant height of the
element. So that you have a piece of reinforced concrete to the
north of the defect, you have a piece of overpour concrete to the
south, and you have a defect between the two.

Had there been reinforcing and concrete, you would have an ele-
ment expand from beam to beam. What you have in the case of E–
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045 is you have an element sitting out in space with no support
at the Perini end of the panel.

Mr. LYNCH. I see. OK.
Mr. TAMARO. So having reinforcing or not having reinforcing

would be immaterial. If the panel had been constructed to the
flanges, behind the flanges of both of the soldier beams, and there
had been reinforcing and there was a hole, there would be an alter-
native path around it, and we wouldn’t have the same structural
concerns that we have for E–045.

Mr. LYNCH. OK.
Mr. TAMARO. It would have just been a sealing of the leak, and

that would have made life a little easier.
Mr. LYNCH. Right. Now, let us go to the general situation. Mr.

Amorello tells me that we have 109 panels now that have inclu-
sions, defects, of—you know what? Can we get a definition on—I
know the No. 1s classified in the report are the severe situations
like the breach, and there are only two of those.

What constitutes a moderate or a No. 2 type defect that we have
in these walls? I guess there are 33 of them? Or actually maybe
more now.

Mr. AMORELLO. They changed with—34 panels with modest re-
pair and 73 require patching or a type of repair. I could have Mike
Lewis, project director, speak to that, or Keith Sibley, if it is easier
on the mic.

Mr. LYNCH. Yes, either one. Either Mike or Keith, go ahead and
tell me what a No. 2 involves, and then I have some questions for
Mr. Tamaro.

Mr. SIBLEY. The No. 1 defect, we had two of those, those are the
breaches. The No. 2 type of defect is something that there are indi-
cations in some cases of a piece of an end stop left, which would
indicate that there is not full engagement of a pile for a short sec-
tion.

There is an inclusion of material between a primary and second-
ary placement; that is, a vein of material. I think Mr. Tamaro de-
scribed just recently how that is important to the performance of
the panel.

Mr. LYNCH. Could that be clay or sediment or something that?
Mr. SIBLEY. That is correct.
Mr. LYNCH. OK.
Mr. SIBLEY. Some foreign material. Clay is the most frequent,

where a joint was not fully cleaned off before the next one. Some-
times it goes well into the panel; sometimes it is toward the sur-
face. Basically, it requires thorough investigation. We have been
doing this.

The contractors are starting to hydroblast the material out to
confirm precisely the dimensions of what we have, and then rec-
ommend methods of doing proper repairs. In some cases, this will
be primarily filling with concrete materials. In other cases, it may
involve structural consideration for the reasons that Mr. Tamaro
outlined a moment ago.

The other 73 minor ones are—we think of as patching. These go
no less—no more than, say, half the depth of the wall and involve
some reinforcing steel and concrete repair patching, typical of con-
crete structures.
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Mr. LYNCH. Didn’t that spec say that simple surface patching or
shallow injection shall not be allowed? Does that fly in the face of
what you are telling me now, that you are going to do minimal
patching here?

Mr. SIBLEY. Simple surface patching would be like a cosmetic re-
pair. What I just described is a structural repair. I mentioned simi-
lar that you would do in reinforced concrete structures—for exam-
ple, if you were repairing bridge abutment, if you were repairing
a retaining wall, something of that nature, you clean out the sur-
face, you prepare it to receive new concrete, bonding agents, etc.,
or saturation, you dowel in appropriate reinforcing steel, and then
you cast additional concrete on it.

If it is relatively shallow, it can be done by——
Mr. LYNCH. Is this shot crete? Is that what you are talking about

now?
Mr. SIBLEY. That would be only in relatively shallow situations.

In deeper situations, the contractor puts up a form—there are some
of these in progress right now—and casts the appropriate material.
If it is large, it can use a large aggregate. If it is small, you might
use, say, a peastone concrete, that type of thing.

Mr. LYNCH. Yes. Who is paying for this?
Mr. SIBLEY. I think, as John said earlier, the contractors are

doing these repairs.
Mr. LYNCH. And they are paying for it on their own dime. They

are not going to come back to the taxpayer to be paid for this,
right?

Mr. MACDONALD. That is my understanding, sir, and we are pay-
ing for our inspection services.

Mr. LYNCH. OK. Mr. Tamaro, based on what you have heard,
that there are voids next to the soldier pile, and there are examples
that were shown earlier where it looks like sidewalk bricks actu-
ally. Let me ask you about that.

They are doing slurry wall construction. They are pumping slur-
ry into this open trench that is the form basically for the eventual
slurry wall. And it appears that in many, many places along this
slurry wall, for the length of the Artery, that there are things drop-
ping in—you know, a hammer, some sidewalk bricks, clumps of
soil. It appears that there is clay sediment, and it is creating these
voids or inclusions that have been described here.

Within that panel—within that panel, what does that do to the—
again, I know you said it diminishes it, but is this a serious con-
cern?

Mr. TAMARO. Can I just go back and tell you how it happens?
Mr. LYNCH. Sure.
Mr. TAMARO. So that we can develop it from there?
Mr. LYNCH. Sure.
Mr. TAMARO. These foreign debris come from either an inad-

equate cleaning of a panel initially—at the conclusion, when you
are all done excavating, you should clean out the panel, make cer-
tain there is no debris sitting on the bottom, or due to the collapse
of some material in the fills after the concrete process has begun.

In the event it is a non-cleaning of the bottom, when you put the
tremmie pipe down to the bottom of the panel, the debris is usually
lighter than the concrete, and it is expected to rise through the
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panel and be expelled. When you begin to see pockets of material,
it is indicative that there is a potential sidewall collapse during the
placement of concrete. The material has fallen down.

When you see the condition of E–045, that is specifically attrib-
utable to the fact that they had two elements that they were trying
to concrete, separated by a steel beam, and they tried to do it with
one tremmie pipe, and what it did was it pushed all the trash into
that slot.

Mr. LYNCH. Right.
Mr. TAMARO. And it collected as a vertical defect.
Mr. LYNCH. Right.
Mr. TAMARO. That is very serious.
Mr. LYNCH. Right.
Mr. TAMARO. A pocket of material the size of a bag of potatoes

is not a problem, if you don’t have running water coming in. You
go back, you dig it out, and you fix it.

Mr. LYNCH. Well, we do have water.
Mr. TAMARO. But E–045 is an extraordinary——
Mr. LYNCH. No, no, no. But, I mean, I have a list here, and they

haven’t done non-destructive testing on this stuff. This is just the
stuff that is coming up visually. We have inclusions, and we know
we have water behind the wall here. We have wet spots. You know,
in my mind, we have all of the ingredients for a failure further
down the line.

Mr. TAMARO. If there is sufficient waterflow to erode the con-
taminated material, you have a potential E–045 problem.

Mr. LYNCH. Right.
Mr. TAMARO. If the leak is observed early on, and it is addressed

quickly, you can stop the leak from becoming a major problem.
Mr. LYNCH. OK. Mr. Mead was in here earlier. Actually, he

might be still here. He recommended that we do a scan of every
single panel, in light of the pervasiveness of this problem, these in-
clusions, stuff dropping into the slurry wall. Is that something that
you would agree with?

Mr. TAMARO. I don’t think it would hurt. It is one more piece of
information. I think the visual check is the most important thing
that one can do. The visual check and sounding of the surface,
banging on it, and the like——

Mr. LYNCH. Really? Even though none of that picked up the
problem in E–045?

Mr. TAMARO. I think the problem in E–045 was picked up some-
where along the way. There was shot crete applied. There was
grouting of the leak.

Mr. LYNCH. OK.
Mr. TAMARO. I think it was picked up.
Mr. LYNCH. OK. All right. Chairman Amorello, I just want to ask

you—at the beginning of this hearing, we started talking about this
IPO situation, this integrated project organization that so many
people have now criticized, but at one point apparently it was a
popular idea because we—we adopted it. You came in 2002, is that
right?

Mr. AMORELLO. That is correct.
Mr. LYNCH. Now, I know the Leak Task Force or the Waterproof-

ing Task Force was 1997.
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Mr. AMORELLO. Waterproofing.
Mr. LYNCH. OK. And then the Leak Task Force was 1999.
Mr. AMORELLO. 2000.
Mr. LYNCH. 2000? And you came in in 2002?
Mr. AMORELLO. Correct.
Mr. LYNCH. OK. So you have had a chance, based on the date

that you brought in in 2002, it is still pretty much—well, there are
some safeguards, I understand. Why don’t I let you answer the
question.

What was your experience with this IPO situation? What did you
do? If you did anything differently, or if you are still using the
same system, I would like to hear about your opinion.

Mr. AMORELLO. When I first came in, being new to it, I hired the
National Academy of Engineers to come in and make recommenda-
tions. And a panel came up and had several meetings in Massachu-
setts and in Washington.

And John Christian, a Massachusetts resident who is now an ad-
visor to the Authority chaired that panel of national experts from
the Academy how to finish the project—their recommendation came
back. The management team and structure you have in place is
sufficient to carry you to the end of this project, to 2005 being the
substantial completion date.

But I wasn’t a fan of the IPO, and I think lessons learned from
this—the IPO was not the manner to oversee this project. The in-
stances that the attorney general will speak of in cost recovery, try-
ing to recoup costs back where there is so much agreement, the In-
spector General has made it clear in many of his—in his testimony
today and in remarks in the past that we somewhat dismantled
that organizational structure. The public employees report to me
and to the chain of command here at the Authority, and the Bech-
tel personnel answer to those overseeing them from the public sec-
tor.

I would point out that at any given time in the past on this
project, Bechtel/Parsons Brinckerhoff I believe had at times ap-
proximately 1,000 employees of their firms working or subcontrac-
tors for them.

Mr. LYNCH. Not counting attorneys, right?
Mr. AMORELLO. I don’t want to characterize—it is the number of

FTEs at any given time under their work program and the sub-
contractors they had within their work programs. And on the State
side, I believe at some given point we had approximately 50 em-
ployees.

But the IPO, a decision made back in the late 1990’s, I am not
a fan of it, wasn’t when I came in, took the National Academy’s
recommendation to finish the project with the timeline we had left,
manage that, opened roadways, kept the schedule, kept to budget,
at the same time moving public responsibilities on the public side
and treating it more like a standard relationship between a con-
sultant and the public side.

Mr. LYNCH. OK. Let me ask you, who signs off on—do you need
to sign off on any payments to Bechtel and other contractors?

Mr. AMORELLO. Contract modifications come in before—at a cer-
tain level come into the Turnpike Board for approval. The State
Highway Department also approves them, because these are State
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highway construction contracts. So there are basically two layers of
public approval on these contracts. The State Highway Department
is more of a procedural matter, because the project is administered
and controlled by the Authority given the 1997 legislation.

Mr. LYNCH. OK. Well, to the degree that you have any authority
to sign off on this, you know, I assume you were here for my con-
versation with Attorney General Reilly.

Mr. AMORELLO. Absolutely. And the clarification, in terms of
holding the contractors responsible for their contracts, and to pro-
vide a piece of information in regards to cost recovery and those ef-
forts seeking recovery to section design consultants or Bechtel/Par-
sons as the joint venture.

And then, the claims and change progress, which, I think Con-
gressman Capuano and yourself have talked about, and the chair-
man was talking about construction claims or changes that we
have instituted as part of the construction process, those are set-
tled with the Authority, and they are not settled as a matter of an
easy decision that we have our own attorneys and our own outside
consultant exponent to review the claims filed by the contractors,
and negotiated settlements where possible.

If we identify in a claim that we are going to pay, because it is
a legitimate, fair claim by the contractor to make it, but we find
that claim was as a result of a design error or omission, then we
submit that over to cost recovery. And those are the items that the
attorney general’s office will be looking at. Those were the items
that the Ginsburg team was dealing with in their cost recovery pro-
gram.

Mr. LYNCH. OK. While we are on that subject, on cost recovery,
I have to ask you—you came into this situation in 2002, and you
know you are stepping into a problem because the project is al-
ready, I don’t know, it is out of sight. It is over $10.8 billion—or,
no, it has to be close to $14 at that point, right?

Mr. AMORELLO. When I came in, it was $14.625. And today it
is——

Mr. LYNCH. That is where it is, OK. So you know we have prob-
lems, and there are enormous concerns about cost recovery, getting
some of that money back. And with all due respect to the gentle-
men at this table, we, as a Commonwealth, and you on the Author-
ity, we are in a pitch battle, a legal one, with Bechtel/Parsons
Brinckerhoff, one of the biggest construction firms in the world.

And in casting about for someone to handle our case and recover-
ing moneys for the taxpayer from this huge construction company,
apparently someone—perhaps yourself included—they did a search
to come up with someone to quarterback our team for cost recovery.
And I understand you found a fine gentleman to do that.

However, from my research, it appears he was a probate judge,
someone dealing with divorce and custody and wills and estates, to
quarterback our team. And I have no—nothing but fine things to
say about that gentleman and—but professionally, as someone who
is responsible for watching out for the Commonwealth, for the tax-
payer, I have to ask you: how did you, in a thorough search, come
up with someone who, from my own review and research, I can find
no clear reason why one would—if casting about the best person to
represent us in that conflict? And it was a conflict, a legal con-

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00128 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



125

flict—I just cannot understand for the life of me why we made that
selection. And I just want to—I have to ask you that, because it
is vexing.

Mr. AMORELLO. I certainly appreciate and respect the question.
Judge Ginsburg is a highly regarded Judge of the
Commonwealth——

Mr. LYNCH. Absolutely.
Mr. AMORELLO [continuing]. Regardless of the——
Mr. LYNCH. An expert in probate law, I might add, and a re-

spected one.
Mr. AMORELLO. And removing the subject matter of his jurisdic-

tion in the courtroom, the credentials of him as an intelligent legal
mind, an individual of the highest integrity——

Mr. LYNCH. Unquestioned.
Mr. AMORELLO [continuing]. That heading up a team of attor-

neys—and we are talking about a team of attorneys and outside
engineering consultants, able to administer the program, and as
Attorney General Reilly pointed out, you have two avenues in cost
recovery. You either settle the matters or you go to court and liti-
gate them.

I guess there would be a third one. You could just drop it and
not pursue it at all. But looking at the reality of the two matters,
the cost recovery team put into place by me was looking to move
a process that had, as has been mentioned by Ken Mead and oth-
ers, $35,000 and I believe $770, $35,770 for the cost recovery in the
prior 10 years of this project.

Judge Ginsburg and his team secured back $3.8 million in settle-
ment moneys, and filed 10 lawsuits, and an 11th lawsuit that Con-
gressman Capuano referenced against Bechtel/Parsons
Brinckerhoff on the grounds of fiduciary responsibilities and others.

The attorney general in his remarks said that those 10 suits
were for—or 8 of those 10 suits, and if—were moving forward in
the process, and that the 11th suit against Bechtel/Parsons was—
he had stated but did not—dropped it. I think that speaks that the
cost recovery team instituted by the Authority was doing its job,
pursuing it.

When it became a matter of lawsuits only, it was appropriate
that the chief legal enforcement officer for the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts, the attorney general, take these matters over, and
use all of the tools and abilities at his disposal that we currently
didn’t have—don’t have as an authority, other than through the
discovery process in the legal cases.

Mr. LYNCH. In fairness, though, the assessment of the previous
cost recovery team—and I may be wrong, and you are completely
free to correct me if I am wrong—if I count up what we have spent
in cost recovery, I come up with approximately expenses of approxi-
mately $8 billion.

Mr. AMORELLO. $8 million.
Mr. LYNCH. I am sorry, $8 million, right. $8 million to recover

$4 million. So we spent $8 to recover about $4. You know, if I am
wrong, straighten me out.

Mr. AMORELLO. Well, just in terms of when you talk about the
individual matter of the settlements that were reached with Jacobs
Engineering and some other firms, the dollars invested for those
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settlements were, I believe—and I stand to be corrected on the
exact dollar amount, but I believe it was about $700,000 to secure
back $3.8 million, $4 million in settlement.

The additional moneys expended by the cost recovery team is
into the establishment of those 10 lawsuits, and I think all of us
know that the foundation now that the attorney general is moving
on are those 10 lawsuits and the amount of work put into putting
a suit before the Supreme Court—the Superior Court of Massachu-
setts is where these dollars that were expended for lawyers, for
outside engineering consultants, and for the staff attorneys that
were working on cost recovery.

Mr. LYNCH. I understand. But we are looking at an October or
November trial date here, and there is still an enormous amount
of work that needs to be done on these cases based on the attorney
general’s assessment at this point.

Mr. AMORELLO. Well, if I may——
Mr. LYNCH. You may.
Mr. AMORELLO [continuing]. Congressman, just to point out that

in the course of this project, in the 10 years of active construction,
there had been no effort—no meaningful effort in terms of cost re-
covery. Ideally—and I say this with the Bechtel/Parsons
Brinckerhoff folks, you would like to reach settlement and resolve
matters in that fashion and not need to pursue them in court.

I respect the fact that the professional relationship between the
Turnpike Authority and Bechtel/Parsons Brinckerhoff has not ma-
terially changed in their effort to continue to complete this project,
while at the same time we filed a lawsuit against them and 10 of
the section design consultants in this course.

The process was not there prior to that, to the cost recovery team
that the Authority established. If you can reach a settlement—and,
again, ideally you want to reach that as the attorney general, and
hopefully the attorney general will be successful in reaching a set-
tlement, but if not, you only have the course to go to litigation, and
those are the steps that we took.

And at the stage where we were finishing up, the court cases had
been filed, natural progression to turn it over to the attorney gen-
eral, and his willingness to accept it.

Mr. LYNCH. It is a point well taken. But just two points. No. 1,
it is usually the quality and the strength of the litigation that
drives the settlement. It is not the settlement that is the driving
force, and then it falls to litigation as a default measure.

So it leads me back to my original question, which was—I mean,
forgive me, but we are in a construction litigation case against one
of the largest construction companies in the world. And we hire a
probate judge to handle our case. That is my point. I understand
the intelligence of the gentleman, his intellect unquestioned, a fine
human being. It is just I question the judgment of that——

Mr. AMORELLO. But take the fact—and, again, the two law firms
that are representing us, and were representing us—Looney &
Grossman is headed by a former——

Mr. LYNCH. Fine law firms, but who is our quarterback on this?
Mr. AMORELLO. The quarterback was Judge Ginsburg and the

team, and these two outside law firms, the other one having one
of the best legal counsels in terms of construction law—Bill
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Zucker—in the country. So we had the right personnel in place,
and now it is rightly turned over to the attorney general. We fully
support him in his efforts in the cases that were given over to him
to manage and administer and move to either successful conclusion
with settlements or he moves to continuing the litigation.

Mr. LYNCH. Well, I wish I shared your faith. It is just a troubling
development.

Mr. AMORELLO. I hear you.
Mr. LYNCH. OK. I will leave it at that. Maybe I should give this

back to Congressman Capuano, but I have to ask—it sounds, you
know, across the table here that there is a shared assessment that
things are going not perfectly, but things are moving along in the
right direction and that you are—you feel that you are on the right
path, and that, as Mr. MacDonald says, this bridge—this tunnel
will serve the citizens of the Commonwealth well into the next cen-
tury.

If that is really the case—and I am going to ask each of you—
Mr. Tamaro, you don’t have a stake in this question. But are you
willing to support efforts to hold the taxpayer harmless going for-
ward here? That is my principal concern here—that long after all
of us are gone, and we already see, you know, Modern Continental
is gone, God bless them—bless Marino, but the company is going
under, and Mr. Cashman is taking over his responsibilities.

Reliant Insurance, gone. Other entities that might be looked to
for recourse are also on the ropes, as they say. There are some oth-
ers that are in shaky condition.

My concern is that in the long term—and I am not saying 5
years or 10 years, I am saying this is a 75-year or a 100-year tun-
nel, we have a responsibility to the next generation that we give
them something that it is not a continual drain on their resources.

So I am looking to set up a structure; some have called it a war-
ranty. I am not sure that is the correct word for it, but close
enough—a way of protecting the citizens of the Commonwealth
going forward, collectively, meaning the Authority and whatever re-
sources it can garner and retain for that purpose, Bechtel/Parsons
Brinckerhoff in the same fashion, the subcontractors, the general
contractors, the designers, the insurance companies, the reinsur-
ance companies, the bond companies, everyone.

But to hold the citizens harmless from—they are blameless in
this. They are blameless in this, and in fairness they paid for a
first-rate tunnel, and based on what I see—and there are a lot of
reasons for it—I don’t see a first-rate tunnel. We hired a world-
class team here, and I don’t see a world-class product, quite frank-
ly, not yet. We can get there; they are salvageable. But we need
the commitment of everyone involved.

And I know there is a lot of personal pride out there as managers
and as construction professionals. Right across the board, right
through Bechtel and each of the firms involved here, and it goes
right down to the workers on the site. Mike and I walked there.
You know, there is a considerable amount of angst among the
workers that they are being associated with a project that is being
criticized roundly.

And they would like to do everything that they can to work
themselves out of it. And I would just like to see the same commit-
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ment from the firms involved here from the top to the bottom, be-
cause I think it is solvable. But it requires a firm and honest and
genuine commitment to getting to that end.

And, you know, I haven’t seen it yet. It looks like this thing is
barreling toward litigation, and I don’t think that is the best for
anyone. And by God, if we get into that, then we will all be in-
volved. We will all be involved, and there will be no easy way out.
It will be take no prisoners from our standpoint in the Congress.
And there will be ramifications, as Chairman Davis said, for those
who seek to acquire other Federal contracts.

We are not playing Tiddly Winks here. This is serious business.
Our obligation is to protect the people that we represent, and your
obligation is to fulfill your part of the bargain. And we can get
there if everyone is fully committed.

I will turn it over to Congressman Capuano.
Mr. CAPUANO. Thanks, Mr. Chairman. I guess I only have one

or two more questions and then just a closing statement from me.
Mr. MacDonald, I apologize for not asking this before, but I want

to make sure I get the question asked to you. In your written testi-
mony, you say that the contract prohibited the agency from making
any unauthorized statements to the public. Are you still under the
same contract to not make any unauthorized statements to the
public?

Mr. MACDONALD. We are, sir, yes.
Mr. CAPUANO. But I presume that since you are under oath

today, the oath that you took at the beginning of this hearing su-
persedes any contractual agreement.

Mr. MACDONALD. Yes, it most certainly does.
Mr. CAPUANO. OK.
Mr. MACDONALD. I would also comment that the chairman has

authorized——
Mr. CAPUANO. Fair enough.
Mr. MACDONALD [continuing]. Us to make statements.
Mr. CAPUANO. The reason I ask is because I want to make sure

I ask the question. Though I am hoping—I think I know the an-
swer, I want to hear it. Based on your knowledge today, is there
anything that the general public or that myself or Mr. Lynch
doesn’t know relative to cost, safety, or security, of major impact—
major import, that we should know?

Is Mr. Amorello telling us the truth, unlike some of his—not his
predecessors but the predecessors of the other agency, predecessors
who ran the Big Dig? Are we being told the truth today relative
to cost, relative to safety and security of the tunnel? Again, subject
to all of the litigation. I am not asking you to point fingers. That
will be all worked out. But to the best of your knowledge, are we
currently being told the truth about this project?

Mr. MACDONALD. To the best of my knowledge, I think your
statements are absolutely right. I think you are being told every-
thing there is to know about the project. Mr. Amorello is—Chair-
man Amorello is running one of the most transparent agencies in
the country right now. You know, everything is on a real-time
basis. From the time we find a defect in the tunnel to when it is
disclosed to the public is within days. So I think it is an extraor-
dinarily open administration.
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Mr. CAPUANO. Thank you. That is the answer I was hoping to
hear, and I am glad I got it.

I just want to close by thanking you all for coming. We have been
here close to, give or take, 4 hours now. First of all, thank you for
staying, and thank you for being open and honest. And, you know,
thank you for sticking with it.

Mr. Amorello, I know you have had some good days and some
bad days on this project. And my hope is that we have more good
days coming than we have had in the past.

And, gentlemen, thank you all. Mr. Lynch, thank you for inviting
me, and I appreciate the opportunity.

Mr. LYNCH. Thank you, Congressman. Just in closing, in a simi-
lar note, Mr. Amorello, I reviewed the chronology of this, and I
know you came here in 2002 and that a lot of these problems were
in full bloom before that point. So I suspect that they have laid
more blame at your doorstep than you truly deserve, and I want
to make that—as someone who has looked at this from day one to
the present day, I just want to make that perfectly clear.

I just want to go back to my friends at Bechtel. Again, you un-
derstand the mission here and the desire here to find some solu-
tion, not to lay the blame and the costs at your doorstep, but to
somehow get your involvement and your commitment to indemnify-
ing the taxpayers, so that the costs are borne by the responsible
parties. And I have no knowledge of the proportionate responsibil-
ity among the parties. I suspect it is widely spread.

Mr. MacDonald, are you committed to that process that would
seek to make sure that the construction is completed according to
the specifications and to the highest expectations of the people of
the Commonwealth? And also, the Federal taxpayers that have
contributed here. And are you willing to work with us on indem-
nifying the taxpayer from any unreasonable costs above what they
should have expected?

Mr. MACDONALD. Congressman, we are committed to giving you
the quality product that you deserve, and we will continue to strive
toward that end. With respect to the commercial matters, at the
closeout of this job, and some of the things that you have talked
about are similar to some things that were asked by the Joint
Transportation Committee of the legislature here back in Decem-
ber.

And we are committed on taking those ideas on board. We fol-
lowed up with the co-chair, Chairman Wagner LeDoure. Their view
at the time, having the AG—State attorney general in charge of
the program, that was the appropriate process to sustain that dia-
log through. And so we are committed to sustaining that dialog
through that process.

Mr. LYNCH. But I am looking to find something long term, some
solution to put in place as this project winds down. You may be
right, and the project may perform as advertised. However, there
have been enough events during the course of this project, and
enough problems that have come to light, that lead a prudent per-
son to require some type of assurance.

Whether you call that a warranty or a—whether a policy can be
put together, it is an insurable risk, in my estimation, given the
timeframe for this project and what we know now and what we will
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know especially after May 15 and DeLoitte & Touche comes in with
their report, which may prompt another hearing, by the way.

But are you willing to look at that type of solution collectively
with all of the other partes?

Mr. MACDONALD. Again, Mr. Congressman, the answer is we will
look at that in the context of the overall resolution of these issues,
and we think that the right place to do that is through the process
with the State attorney general.

Mr. LYNCH. OK. All right. If that is your answer.
Do any of you have anything you would like to say in closing?

I should probably offer you that opportunity.
Mr. AMORELLO. Congressman, the commitment on the Turnpike

Authority to finish this project to the level that the public expects
us to, it is delivering on the commitments that were made when
it was initiated back in the mid-1980’s in terms of improving traffic
flow.

We have done the groundbreaking on the north end parks. We
are seeing the greening of downtown Boston and improving trans-
portation. So the project is living up to the expectations. These con-
struction issues that we need to resolve, while we have the contrac-
tors in place, while Bechtel/Parsons are here, we will hold them ac-
countable.

Your suggestion in terms of a warranty, I can assure you that
the Turnpike Authority will work cooperatively with the attorney
general, and items that perhaps we project out as additional costs
that the Authority should not have expected to bear on itself as the
owner and operator of this tunnel network perhaps could be added
into discussions in terms of settlements, if it is possible with the
responsible parties from the SDCs and from the joint venture.

This is an incredible achievement. This highway network, despite
all of the negative press that has occurred here, it is an incredible
achievement. The tunnel system under the city of Boston is a mar-
vel that we will all take great pride in that we are a part of and
helped to make it a reality.

These issues, these hurdles that we need to overcome, we will
overcome them. I have the confidence in the gentleman to my left.
I have the conference in the folks sitting behind me from the Turn-
pike Authority, particularly those of us in the public sector that
want to do the right thing, assure the taxpayers and tollpayers
that their money was wisely spent and that they weren’t spent on
any additional costs that—for leak repairs, or what have you.

But we will hold all our contractors accountable on our end in
terms of claims and changes, and we will work cooperatively with
the attorney general in its efforts at cost recovery, or continuing
the efforts of cost recovery. But this is—it should never be forgot-
ten by any of us in this Commonwealth—an incredible project that
is going to make a world of difference for the future of Boston and
New England.

It has had a great impact for the men and women in the building
trades for 10 years while construction was going on, a rare oppor-
tunity of keeping a lot of people that were in a business, as you
know, that was cyclical and depending on cycles. For much of the
1990’s, this project kept the city of Boston and the region healthy
economically, because of the spending that went into it.
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And at the end of the day, we will have a first-rate tunnel net-
work, a first-rate transportation system, first-rate parks on the top,
all because of the investment that has been made by the national
government, by the State government by the Turnpike Authority.

But we have an obligation to you, the Members of Congress, to
Inspector Mead—I agreed with you earlier when Congressman
Capuano said the one person he cares about is—if he is still behind
me somewhere—the Inspector General for the Department of
Transportation, but also our partners in Federal Highway.

Administrator Peters has been very supportive of this project and
efforts, but she is also holding our feet to the fire to make sure that
the panel replacement that comes in meets your expectation and
their expectation for longevity, durability, constructability, and we
will come up with a solution with, again, the folks behind me—
John Christian, Clyde Baker from SDS—to assure the public that
no cost was incurred.

And no cost is being—the cost of repair of this panel is not a fac-
tor for us. The Bechtel folks and the people from Modern Continen-
tal have stepped up to take responsibility, so we are not calculating
in any dollar value to say, ‘‘This is the fix.’’ It will be the best fix
that works, with the least amount of risk, least amount of impact
to our abutters, and something that is constructable and durable
and will last as long as we expect these tunnels to last, and that
is 75 years or greater.

Mr. LYNCH. Well, thank you. I appreciate that.
Gentleman.
Mr. MACDONALD. Yes, Mr. Congressman. This has been an ex-

traordinarily long game for us, as your management consultant.
We have been at this for 20 years. The controversies that we face
today aren’t the first controversies that we have responded to on
this job. These aren’t the first challenges that we have overcome
on this job.

So we will continue to go forward. We will continue to do our
best to complete this project as cost effectively and to a high stand-
ard to deliver the world-class project that you are entitled to. We
will do that. The challenges today will be overcome.

We have also done that—and, again, as you get to the tail of
these things, the cost recovery issues tend to take on a rather large
dimension, and that is what has happened here, and it has hap-
pened over the past 3 years. It just didn’t happen this year. It has
been an ongoing stress for us, really, since the middle of 2001.

And I am so proud of our people that they have been able to stay
focused on their job and working with the MTA and the Common-
wealth of Massachusetts to get this job done. And we will continue
to do that while we continue to constructively work through this
dispute.

Thank you.
Mr. LYNCH. OK. Well, thank you. And I trust that you will work

with Attorney General Reilly, then, maybe to pursue that indem-
nification of the taxpayers in some shape or form that is agreeable
to you all?

Thank you, gentlemen. The hearing is adjourned.
[NOTE.—The slide presentation by Hon. Stephen Lynch entitled,

‘‘Digging up the Facts: Inspecting the Big Dig and the Performance
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of Federal and State Government in Providing Oversight of Federal
Funds,’’ may be found in committee files.]

[Whereupon, at 5:55 p.m., the committee was adjourned.]

Æ

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:52 Jun 23, 2005 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00136 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6011 D:\DOCS\21590.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1


		Superintendent of Documents
	2023-02-12T23:09:44-0500
	Government Publishing Office, Washington, DC 20401
	Government Publishing Office
	Government Publishing Office attests that this document has not been altered since it was disseminated by Government Publishing Office




